
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday, 16 August 2017 5.30 pm 
Committee Rooms 1-2, City 

Hall 

 
Membership: 
 

 
Councillors Jim Hanrahan (Chair), Peter West (Vice-Chair), 
Biff Bean, Kathleen Brothwell, Bob Bushell, Paul Gowen, 
Gary Hewson, Ronald Hills, Tony Speakman, Edmund Strengiel 
and Naomi Tweddle 
 

Substitute members: 
 

Councillors Jackie Kirk and Neil Murray 
 

Officers attending: 
 

Mick Albans, Emma Brownless, Simon Cousins, Democratic 
Services and Kieron Manning 
 

 
The Planning Committee comprises democratically elected members who will be presented 
with a recommendation from the professional officers for each application on the agenda. 
After each application has been presented, those interested parties who have registered to 
speak will then be given 5 minutes to verbally present their views, and, following this, the 
committee will debate each proposal and make the decision, having considered all relevant 
information. 
 
Clearly the process of making a decision will inevitably cause some people to feel aggrieved, 
but it is hoped that all interested parties will feel that their views have been considered as 
part of the process. 
 
Please ensure that your mobile phones are switched off or set to silent throughout the 
meeting and please refrain from attempting to speak from the public gallery unless you have 
formally registered to speak on an application, in which case the Chair will call you to the 
table at the relevant time. 
 

A G E N D A 

SECTION A Page(s)  

1.  Confirmation of Minutes - 19 July 2017  
 

5 - 14 

2.  Declarations of Interest  
 
Please note that, in accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct, 
when declaring interests members must disclose the existence and 
nature of the interest, and whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest 
(DPI) or personal and/or pecuniary. 
 

 

3.  Work to Trees in City Council Ownership  
 

15 - 20 

Public Document Pack



 

4.  Applications for Development  
 

 

(a)   10-12 Lindum Terrace and 30-32 Sewell Road, Lincoln  
 

21 - 98 

(b)   Birchwood Leisure Centre, Birchwood Avenue, Lincoln  
 

99 - 118 

5.  The Performance of the Council in Appeals Decided by the Planning 
Inspectorate  
 

119 - 128 



 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 

 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

FOR PLANNING, LISTED BUILDING, CONSERVATION AREA AND ADVERTISEMENT 
APPLICATIONS ON THE AGENDA OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
 

The Background Papers for the Planning, Listed Building, Conservation Area and 
Advertisement Applications are: 
 
1. The appropriate Planning Information Folder: This is a file with the same reference 

number as that shown on the Agenda for the Application. It contains the following 
documents: 
 
(a) the application forms; 
(b) plans of the proposed development; 
(c) site plans; 
(d) certificate relating to ownership of the site; 
(e) consultation letters and replies to and from statutory consultees and bodies; 
(f) letters and documents from interested parties; 
(g) memoranda of consultation and replies to and from Departments of the Council. 
 

2. Any previous Planning Information Folders referred to in the Reports on the Agenda for 
the particular application or in the Planning Information Folder specified above. 
 

3. City of Lincoln Local Plan: Adopted 26 August 1998. 
 

4. The emerging draft Local Development Framework is now a material consideration. 
 

5. Lincolnshire Structure Plan – Final Modifications 3 January 2006 
 

6. Regional Spatial Strategy – 17 March 2005 
 

7. Applications which have Background Papers additional to those specified in 1 to 6 
above set out in the following table.  These documents may be inspected at the 
Planning Reception, City Hall, Beaumont Fee, Lincoln. 

 
APPLICATIONS WITH ADDITIONAL BACKGROUND PAPERS (See 7 above.) 
 
Application No.:  Additional Background Papers 



 

CRITERIA FOR PLANNING COMMITTEE SITE VISITS (AGREED BY DC COMMITTEE ON 
21 JUNE 2006 AND APPROVED BY FULL COUNCIL ON 15 AUGUST 2006) 
 
 
Criteria: 
 

 Applications which raise issues which are likely to require detailed first hand knowledge 
of the site and its surroundings to enable a well-informed decision to be taken and the 
presentational material at Committee would not provide the necessary detail or level of 
information. 

 

 Major proposals which are contrary to Local Plan policies and proposals but which have 
significant potential benefit such as job creation or retention, environmental 
enhancement, removal of non-confirming uses, etc. 

 

 Proposals which could significantly affect the city centre or a neighbourhood by reason 
of economic or environmental impact. 

 

 Proposals which would significantly affect the volume or characteristics of road traffic in 
the area of a site. 

 

 Significant proposals outside the urban area. 
 

 Proposals which relate to new or novel forms of development. 
 

 Developments which have been undertaken and which, if refused permission, would 
normally require enforcement action to remedy the breach of planning control. 

 

 Development which could create significant hazards or pollution. 
 
 
So that the targets for determining planning applications are not adversely affected by the 
carrying out of site visits by the Committee, the request for a site visit needs to be made as 
early as possible and site visits should be restricted to those matters where it appears 
essential.   
 
A proforma is available for all Members.  This will need to be completed to request a site visit 
and will require details of the application reference and the reason for the request for the site 
visit.  It is intended that Members would use the proforma well in advance of the consideration 
of a planning application at Committee.  It should also be used to request further or additional 
information to be presented to Committee to assist in considering the application.   
  



Planning Committee 19 July 2017 

 
Present: Councillor Peter West (in the Chair),  

Councillor Biff Bean, Councillor Kathleen Brothwell, 
Councillor Bob Bushell, Councillor Paul Gowen, 
Councillor Gary Hewson, Councillor Ronald Hills, 
Councillor Fay Smith, Councillor Tony Speakman and 
Councillor Neil Murray 
 

Apologies for Absence: Councillor Jim Hanrahan, Councillor Edmund Strengiel 
and Councillor Naomi Tweddle 
 

 
19.  Confirmation of Minutes - 21 June 2017  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 21June 2017 be confirmed. 
 

20.  Declarations of Interest  
 

Councillor Neil Murray declared a Personal and Pecuniary Interest with regard to 
the agenda item titled '19 St Catherine’s, Lincoln'.  
 
Reason: He lived in close proximity to the application site. He left the room during 
the consideration of this item. 
 

21.  Work to Trees in City Council Ownership  
 

The Arboricultural Officer: 
 

a. advised members of the reasons for proposed works to trees in City 
Council ownership and sought consent to progress the works identified at 
Appendix A of his report  
 

b. explained that Ward Councillors had been notified of the proposed works  
 

c. stated that in some cases it was not possible to plant a tree in the exact 
location and in these cases a replacement would be replanted in the 
vicinity.  

 
RESOLVED that the works set out in the schedule at Appendix A attached to the 
report be approved.  
 

22.  Application for Development: Lincoln Central Railway Station, St Mary's 
Street, Lincoln  

 
The Planning Manager: 
 

a. described the location of the application site on the south side of St Mary’s 
Street by the railway station car park 
 

b. sought planning permission for removal of 5 mature London Plane trees 
with replacement planting of 5 new London Plane trees in appropriate tree 
pits as close to the original location of the existing trees as practicable 

 
c. advised that following an incident on Wednesday 28 June 2017, a tree of 

5

Item No. 1



the same species, condition and within the same environment as the 
remaining trees had fallen 
 

d. reported that as part of the consented Transport Hub scheme work to re-
pave the area around the trees; the applicants advised there were no 
measures that could be taken to ensure that the remaining trees would not 
fall down either as an immediate consequence of starting the works or at 
some time in the future, therefore it was proposed to remove and replace 
the trees. 
 

e. provided details of the policies pertaining to the application as follows: 
 

 LP25: The Historic Environment 
 LP26: Design and Amenity 

 

f. outlined the responses made to the consultation exercise 
 

g. referred to the update sheet which contained further information and a 
further response received in respect of the application 

 
h. advised members of the main issues to be considered by the application as 

follows:  
 

 Amenity Value  

 Public Safety 
 

i. concluded that: 
 

 Whilst the trees offered a level of amenity it was considered that 
their removal would not have a significant negative impact on the 
Conservation Area. 

 Whilst it had been identified that three of the trees were worthy of a 
TPO, the potential risk to public safety had been highlighted by the 
applicant and it was therefore considered that in this case, on 
balance, the trees could be removed, subject to suitable 
replacements being planted as near to the original locations as 
possible.  
 

Members expressed concerns regarding the recommendation of officers in this 
instance not to protect mature trees which was contrary to normal procedure. 
However, it was acknowledged that this decision had to be balanced against 
public health and safety which was paramount. 
 
Members made comments/asked the following questions: 
 

 Had the fallen tree been damaged as part of the current Transport Hub 
development or as a result of historical work? 

 What checks had been carried out on all the trees prior to commencement 
of works? 

 What was the opinion of the Arboricultural Officer on the sustainability and 
prosperity of the replacement trees?  

 To what height would the replacement trees mature in pots? 

 The majority of residents would favour retention of the trees for amenity 
value/to take fumes out of the atmosphere. It was current policy to remove 

6



raised beds across the City which gave a confusing message if these trees 
were to be felled. 

 It was not known whether the remaining trees were damaged or not. The 
inference was that removing the trees would make the contractor’s work 
easier. 

 
The Planning Manager offered the following points of clarification to members: 
 

 Each case requesting tree works, as with all other planning applications, 
should be considered on its own merits and no precedent was set here.  

 It was very fortunate that the incident of the fallen tree had not resulted in 
serious injury to members of the public.  

 Prior to Transport Hub works commencing the trees had been assessed 
as ‘very good’.  

 A number of circumstances had led to the tree’s collapse at which point 
damage to the root system was identified. Concrete was found below 
ground originating from repaving works completed historically and not due 
to current work. There was concern that the remaining trees may suffer a 
similar fate. 

 The felling of the trees would clearly pose a negative impact on the area. It 
could not be certain whether or not the remaining trees would pose similar 
issues in the future. Officers must take a balanced view on the proposals 
before us bearing in mind this was a highly pedestrianised area. 

 The replacement trees would be planted in 1,000 litre pots in tree pits 
allowing the roots to expand downwards. They would be younger trees, 
but of a ‘heavy’ standard. 

 The resurfacing of the pathways as part of the consented Transport Hub 
would not in his opinion have a positive impact and cause further 
disruption to the existing trees. 

 
The Arboricultural Officer offered the following additional comments:  
 

 The modern tree pit system offered stability to the trees guiding the roots 
downwards to spread laterally further below the surface. 

 The trees would measure 25 feet in height, half the height of the existing 
trees. 

 The new trees would be staked down, their weight giving extra stability. 

 The new trees would grow to a height of 20 metres similar to those present 
at St Mary Le Wigford Churchyard. 

 
Kate Ellis, Strategic Director, Major Developments advised: 
 

 The incident of the fallen tree was subject to a legal investigation. 

 The amenity value of the trees was the reason why they had been retained 
as part of the Transport Hub Scheme and they had been given a good bill 
of health during investigations carried out before work had commenced.  

 The incident of the fallen tree shifted the balance of evidence and we could 
no longer guarantee against a similar occurrence, with the potential for the 
Council to face prosecution. 

 The overriding health and safety issue changed the balance of the need to 
remove and replace the trees. 

 Various options had been investigated, however, historical evidence of the 
area around the fallen tree showed that the roots had lifted the existing 
pavement and been replaced in the past by tarmac. We could not 

7



guarantee the safety of the public if we continued with the scheme causing 
distress to the remaining trees. 

 Officers recognised the amenity value of replacing the trees with good 
quality specimens. 

 
RESOLVED that the trees highlighted within the report not be protected under a 
tree preservation order. 
 

23.  Change to Order of Business  
 

RESOLVED that the order of business be amended to allow the report on Land to 
the Rear of 110 Longdales Road, Lincoln to be considered as the next agenda 
item, and the report on The Phoenix, St Helens Avenue, Lincoln to be considered 
as the subsequent application for development. 
 

24.  Application for Development: Land To Rear Of 110 Longdales Road, Lincoln  
 

The Principal Planning Officer: 
 

a. advised that planning permission was sought for the erection of a two 
storey, three bedroom dwelling house 
 

b. described the proposed development site situated to the rear of a two-
storey host property fronting Longdales Road with a large rear garden 
which sloped slightly down to Aubourn Avenue 
 

c. suggested new fencing and a new privet hedge to the front replacing an 
existing hedge; and trees to the rear 

 
d. outlined the relevant site history to the application as detailed within the 

officer’s report 
 

e. provided details of the policies pertaining to the application as follows: 
 

 Central Lincolnshire Local Plan (Adopted April 2017) 

 Policy LP1: A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

 Policy LP2: The Spatial Strategy and Settlement Hierarchy 

 Policy LP3: Level and Distribution of Growth 

 Policy LP4: Growth in Villages 

 Policy LP5: Delivering Prosperity and Jobs 

 Policy LP13: Accessibility and Transport 

 Policy LP14: Managing Water Resources and Flood Risk 

 Policy LP16: Development on Land affected by Contamination 

 Policy LP21: Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

 Policy LP26: Design and Amenity 

 Policy LP36: Access and Movement within the Lincoln Area 
 

 Core Strategy & Development Management Policies of the 
Lincolnshire Minerals & Waste Local Plan (Adopted June 2016) 

 
 Policy M11 Safeguarding of Mineral Resources 

 

 National Planning Policy Framework 
  

8



f. outlined the responses made to the consultation exercise 
 

g. advised members of the main issues to be considered by the application 
as follows:  
 

 The Principle of the Development; 

 The Impact of the Design of the Proposals; 

 The Implications of the Proposals upon Amenity; 

 Other Matters; and 

 The Planning Balance 
 

h. concluded that: 
 

 The presumption in favour of sustainable development required by 
the National Planning Policy Framework would apply to the 
proposals as there would not be conflict with the three strands of 
sustainability that would apply to development as set out in the 
planning balance. Therefore, there would not be harm caused by 
approving the development.  

 As such, it was considered that the application should benefit from 
planning permission for the reasons identified in the report and 
subject to the conditions outlined within the officer’s report. 

 
Councillor Liz Maxwell, addressed Planning Committee as Ward Advocate on 
behalf of local residents, covering the following main points: 
 

 Some of the local residents she represented were quite elderly. 

 Aubourn Avenue was very narrow in width causing issues of access and 
parking for local residents. 

 Students from Bishop Grosseteste University also parked on Aubourn 
Avenue causing blocked access to driveways/difficulties for residents. 

 The proposed development would add to problems for residents getting in 
and out of their driveways. 

 Parking from the local sports field traffic also affected parking in the area. 

 The hedge to be destroyed was full of nesting birds. 
 
The Principal Planning Officeer confirmed the width of Aubourn Avenue from the 
edge of the footpath to the edge of the road at 5.5 metres. In comparison 
Longdales road measured 8.5m in width. 
 
Members discussed the content of the report in further detail. Concerns were 
raised in relation to: 
 

 Restricted view for vehicles exiting the driveway onto the road due to the 
existence of a high hedge either side of the new development and no 
footpath. 

 Potential opportunities for a residents parking scheme in the area due to 
student parking. 

 Potential imbalance of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HIMO’s) in the 
area. 

 Why residency was not conditioned to exclude students. 

 Whether Aubourn Avenue was standard width for an estate road. 

 Whether there were any Government guidelines covering development on 
garden land. 

9



 
The Planning Manager offered the following points of clarification to members: 
 

 The width of Aubourn Avenue at 5.5 metres was typical of an estate road. 

 There was no direction from the Government to build/not to build on 
garden land. Each application should be considered on its own merits. 

 Any request to change the use of the premises to a HIMO would require a 
further planning application for C4 use. The number of HIMO’s in the area 
would be assessed at that time although there was no indication it was 
excessive according to existing records. 

 S106 agreements were deployed consistently in Carholme Ward due to 
the social imbalance created by over 10% of properties being HIMO’s, the 
area of this application did not and therefore this could not be justified. 

 The absence of a footpath outside the driveway/sight restrictions to access 
was not unique across the City and not of sufficient merit to warrant refusal 
of planning permission. 

 The mention of resident’s parking was not a matter for him to comment on 
at this time.  

 
RESOLVED that planning permission be granted subject to the following 
conditions: 
 

 Timeframe of the application; 

 Approved plans; 

 Approved materials; 

 Landscaping; 

 No removal of hedges during bird breeding season; 

 Parking needs to be provided prior to occupation; 

 Surface water drainage scheme if soakaway not suitable; 

 Finished floor levels and fences (for privacy); 

 Unexpected contamination; 

 Construction of the development (delivery times and working hours); 

 Electric vehicle recharging point; and 

 PD removal (windows in gables and rear roof slope). 
 

25.  Application for Development: The Phoenix, St Helens Avenue, Lincoln  
 

The Planning Manager: 
 

a. described the location of the proposed development, a large detached 
property (dormer bungalow), known as The Phoenix, accessed by a 
private driveway located at the northern end of St Helens Avenue, off 
Skellingthorpe Road 

 

b. advised that planning permission was sought for change of use of from a 
dwellinghouse (class C3) to a residential care home (class C2), by the 
Linkage Trust, a registered charity providing care, specialist further 
education and employment services to people with varying degrees of 
learning disabilities. 
 

c. added that The Trust was developing a campus within the grounds of 
Boultham Park, the delivery of which was dependent on the provision of 
accessible residential care accommodation nearby 

 

10



d. outlined the relevant site history to the application as detailed within the 
officer’s report 
 

e. provided details of the policies pertaining to the application as follows: 
 

 National Planning Policy Framework  

 Policy LP1: A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 9 

 Policy LP10: Meeting Accommodation Needs 33 

  
f. outlined the responses made to the consultation exercise 

 
g. referred to the update sheet which contained further information in respect 

of the proposed development 
 

h. advised members of the main issues to be considered by the application 
as follows:  
 

 National and local planning policy 

 The principle of the development 

 Accessibility and parking provision 

 Potential impact on residential amenity 
 

i. concluded that: 
 

 The proposed change of use would meet an identified need for 
residential care accommodation and be appropriately located within 
the Lincoln Urban Area, in accordance with Policy LP10 'Meeting 
Accommodation Needs' of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan 
(2017), and would not unduly impact on the amenities of 
neighbouring properties or the wider area.  

 Access to and from the site would be safe and convenient for both 
pedestrians and vehicles. Parking provision would be adequate, 
given the scale of the proposed development, and the potential for 
more sustainable modes of transport to be used. 

 
Members discussed the content of the report in further detail. 
 
RESOLVED that planning permission be granted subject to the following 
conditions: 
 
Standard Conditions  
 
01) The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three 

years beginning with the date of this permission. 
   
  Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 
  
02) With the exception of the detailed matters referred to by the conditions of 

this consent, the development hereby approved shall be carried out in 
accordance with the drawings listed within Table A below. 

  The works shall be carried out in accordance with the details shown on the 
approved plans and in any other approved documents forming part of the 
application. 

   
11



  Reason: To ensure the development proceeds in accordance with the 
approved plans. 

 
Conditions to be discharged before commencement of works 
 
  None. 
    
Conditions to be discharged before use is implemented 
 
  None. 
   
Conditions to be adhered to at all times 
 
05) Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any 
subsequent re-enactment or revocation thereof) the dwelling hereby 
approved shall only be used for the residential care accommodation 
hereby approved and shall not be used for any other purpose within Class 
C2 of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as 
amended) without the prior consent of the City Council as Local Planning 
Authority. 

   
  Reason: In the interests of residential amenity. 
  
06) The arrangements detailed in the strategy for the parking of vehicles shall 

be available at all times when the property is in use. 
   
  Reason: To enable calling vehicles to wait clear of the carriageway of St 

Helens Avenue. 
 
Table A 
 
The above recommendation has been made in accordance with the submitted 
drawings identified below: 
 
Drawing No. Version Drawing Type Date Received 

L-LIN-142-LP  Location Plan 26th May 2017 

  Floor Plans - Existing 26th May 2017 

  Floor Plans - Proposed 26th May 2017 

 
26.  Application for Development: 19 St Catherines, Lincoln  

 
The Principal Planning Officer: 
 

a. sought planning permission for change of use of 19 St Catherine’s from a 
doctors' surgery to a 7 bedroom house in multiple occupation (HIMO) 
 

b. described the location of the property, a two-storey, Victorian building 
facing onto St Catherine’s with vehicle access taken from Colgrave Street 

 
c. provided details of the policies pertaining to the application as follows: 

 
 National Planning Policy Framework  

 Central Lincolnshire Local Plan – Policy LP37 

 

12



d. outlined the responses made to the consultation exercise 

 

e. referred to the update sheet which contained a further response received 
from Lincoln Civic Trust in respect of the proposed development 
 

f. advised members that the main issues to be considered by the application 
related directly to Policy LP37: Sub-division and multi-occupation of 
dwellings within Lincoln of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan which stated 
that the conversion or change of use of existing dwellings and buildings in 
other uses to self-contained flats or shared accommodation including 
houses in multiple occupation will be supported where: 
 

 The existing dwelling or building was capable of conversion without 
causing harm to the amenities of future occupants, neighbours and 
the wider area; 

 The development would not lead to or increase an existing over-
concentration of such issues on the area; 

 Adequate provision was made for external communal areas, bin 
storage and collection, and on-site parking and cycle storage unless 
it could be demonstrated that the site was sustainably located on a 
regular bus route or within walking distance of the city centre. 
 

g. concluded that: 
 

 It was considered that the proposed change of use would meet the 
tests of Policy LP37 of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan. 

 The use would not lead to an over intensification of multiple 
occupation dwellings in the immediate area and the on street 
parking would provide a facility not seen with most properties in this 
area. Therefore it would not add to the current parking issues in the 
area. 
 

Members discussed the content of the report in further detail. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer further advised: 
 

 That the proposed change of use was not in exceedance of the 
10% threshold of HIMO’s within a 100m radius and for this reason 
there was no justification to reject the application.  

 The Highways Authority had raised no objections to the scheme. 

 One parking space had been allocated per bedroom. For this 
reason he suggested that a further condition be imposed on the 
grant of planning permission to restrict the number of occupants 
residing at the property to 7 in total. 

 
Members commented as follows: 
 

 A condition requiring the parking bays to be marked out to allow 
sufficient space for drivers to swing in and out of the premises 
would be helpful. 

 Resident’s in the area had expressed concerns over the build-up of 
HIMO’s in the area generally. 

 
The Planning Manager offered the following points of clarification to members: 
 

13



 Officers could not give a specific quantity of the amount of HIMO’s 
in the area. He was confident it was under the 10% threshold 
although it may be near. The HIMO database was a working 
document and was getting more accurate as properties were 
added. 

 The marking out of parking bays was not a requirement of the 
planning application, however, he was happy to suggest this to the 
applicant as a condition. Should the applicant be resistant to this 
proposal his view was that the planning application should still be 
approved.  
 

RESOLVED that planning permission be granted subject to the following 
conditions: 
 

 Development to be commenced within three years. 

 Development to be carried out in accordance with the submitted 
floor plan. 

 Number of residents to be limited to 7 in total. 

 Negotiations to be held with applicant requesting the marking up of 
car parking bays at the premises. 

 

14



PLANNING COMMITTEE   16 AUGUST 2017  
 

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
WORK TO TREES IN CITY COUNCIL OWNERSHIP 

DIRECTORATE: 
 

COMMUNITIES AND ENVIRONMENT 

LEAD OFFICER STEVE BIRD – ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (COMMUNITIES & 
STREET SCENE) 
 

 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 To advise Members of the reasons for proposed works to trees in City Council 

ownership, and to seek consent to progress the works identified. 
 

1.2 This list does not represent all the work undertaken to Council trees. It is all the 
instances where a tree is either identified for removal, or where a tree enjoys 
some element of protection under planning legislation, and thus formal consent 
is required. 
 

2. Background 
 

2.1 In accordance with the accepted policy, Committee’s views are sought in respect 
of proposed works to trees in City Council ownership, see Appendix A. 
 

2.2 The responsibility for the management of any given tree is determined by the 
ownership responsibilities of the land on which it stands. Trees within this 
schedule are therefore on land owned by the Council, with management 
responsibilities distributed according to the purpose of the land. 
 

3. Tree Assessment 
 

3.1 All tree cases are brought to this committee only after careful consideration and 
assessment by the Council’s Arboricultural Officer (together with independent 
advice where considered appropriate). 
 

3.2 All relevant Ward Councillors are notified of the proposed works for their 
respective wards prior to the submission of this report.                                  

3.3 Although the Council strives to replace any tree that has to be removed, in some 
instances it is not possible or desirable to replant a tree in either the exact 
location or of the same species. In these cases a replacement of an appropriate 
species is scheduled to be planted in an appropriate location within the vicinity. 
Tree planting is normally scheduled for the winter months following the removal. 
 

4. Resource Implications 

4.1 i) Finance 
 

The costs of any tree works arising from this report will be borne by the existing 
budgets. There are no other financial implications, capital or revenue.  
 

15

Item No. 3



4.2 ii) Staffing   N/A 
  

4.3 iii) Property/Land/ Accommodation Implications      N/A 
 

4.4 iv) Procurement 
      
All works arising from this report are undertaken by the Council’s grounds 
maintenance contractor. The contractor was appointed after an extensive 
competitive tendering exercise, ensuring that staff are all suitably trained, 
qualified, and experienced. The contract for this work was let in April 2006. 
 

5. Policy Implications 
 

5.1 (i) Strategic Priority                       N/A 
 

5.2 (ii) S.17 Crime and Disorder         N/A 
 

5.3 (iii) Equality and Diversity             N/A 
 

5.4 (iv) Environmental Sustainability   
  
The Council acknowledges the importance of trees and tree planting to the 
environment and its biodiversity objectives. Replacement trees are routinely 
scheduled wherever a tree has to be removed, in-line with Council policy.  
 

5.5 (v) Community Engagement/Communication   N/A 
 

6. Consultation and Communication     
  

6.1 All ward Councillors are informed of proposed works on this schedule, which are 
within their respective ward boundaries. 
 

6.2 The relevant portfolio holders are advised in advance in all instances where, in 
the judgement of officers, the matters arising within the report are likely to be 
sensitive or contentious. 
 

7. Legal Implications 
 

7.1 (i) Legal 
 

The City Council has a legal obligation to ensure that trees in Council                
ownership are maintained in a safe condition. Trees may be protected by the law 
in certain instances. Situations where this applies are normally in relation to 
planning legislation covering Conservation Areas, and Tree Preservation Orders. 
Where there is legal protection for a tree or trees, this is identified clearly in the 
appendices. 
 

7.2 (ii) Contractual     
 

See 4.4 above. 
 

 

16



8. Assessment of Options 
 

8.1 (i) Key Issues      
 
The work identified on the attached schedule represents the Arboricultural 
Officers advice to the Council relevant to the specific situation identified. This is 
a balance of assessment pertaining to the health of the tree, its environment, 
and any legal or health and safety concerns. In all instances the protection of 
the public is taken as paramount. Deviation from the recommendations for any 
particular situation may carry ramifications. These can be outlined by the 
Arboricultural Officer pertinent to any specific case.  
 

8.2 (ii)  Risk Assessment  
 
Where appropriate, the recommended actions within the schedule have been 
subject to a formal risk assessment. Failure to act on the recommendations of 
the Arboricultural Officer could leave the Council open to allegations that it has 
not acted responsibly in the discharge of its legal responsibilities. 
 

9. Recommendation 
 

9.1 That the works set out in the attached schedules be approved. 
 

Access to Information: 
Does the report contain 
exempt information, which 
would prejudice the public 
interest requirement if it 
was publicised? 
 

 
No 

Key Decision No 
 

Key Decision Reference 
No. 
 

                                           N/A 

Do the Exempt 
Information Categories 
Apply 
 

No 

Call In and Urgency: I s 
the decision one to which 
Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules apply? 
 

 
No 

List of Background 
Papers: 
 

                                Section file        Te 623 

Lead Officer:  Mr S. Bird,  
Assistant Director (Communities & Street Scene) 
Telephone 873421 
 

 
 
 
 

17



NOTIFICATION OF INTENDED WORK TO TREES AND HEDGES 
RELEVANT TO THEIR CITY COUNCIL OWNERSHIP STATUS. 

SCHEDULE No 8 / SCHEDULE DATE: 16/08/17 
 
 

Item 
No 

Status 
e.g. 
CAC 

Specific 
Location  

Tree Species 
and description 
/ reasons for 
work / Ward. 
 

Recommendation 

1 CAC Arboretum, adjacent 
to footpath near 
pond. 

Abbey Ward 
1 Copper Beech. 
Fell, the tree has 
decay in a large 
wound pocket from a 
past limb failure. 
 
 

Approve and replant with a 
Copper Beech. 

2 CAC Neustadt Court, 
amenity grass splay. 
 

Abbey Ward 
1 Lime and 3 Norway 
Maples. Prune to 
crown lift to 5.2 metres 
for carriageway 
clearance. 
 

Approve. 

3 CAC Waterside North, 
outside Waterside 
Centre. 

Abbey Ward 
2 Willows. 
Prune and lift crown to 
enable unobstructed 
passage for river 
traffic. 
 
 

Approve. 

4 N/A Gray Street, rear of 
4 & 5 Aldreth Villas. 

Castle Ward 
3 Maples 
Repollard to former 
pollard points to 
reduce risk of branch 
failure. 
 

Approve 

5 CAC Westgate, site of St 
Paul in the Bail. 
 

Castle Ward 
1 Sorbus and 1 Cherry 
prune to reduce crown 
back from boundary 
and rebalance. 
 
 

Approve. 

6 TPO Fulmar Road, tree 
belt to rear of 23 
Tudor Road 

Hartsholme Ward 
2 Oaks and 2 
Hawthorns. 
Reduce crown by 30%  
back to boundary. 
 

Approve. 

7 CAC Northgate, highway Minster Ward Approve and replant with 1 

18



central reservation. 1 Maple. 
Fell, the tree is in 
decline and is 
suffering crown 
dieback. 
 
1 Lime  
Crown lift to 3 metres 
and reduce crown by 
30% for carriageway 
clearance. 
 
1 Maple, 2 Limes and 
1 Robinia. 
Crown lift for 
carriageway 
clearance. 
 

Norway Maple. 
 
 
 
 
 

               

8 CAC Temple Gardens, 
adjacent to No 6 
Lindum Road. 
 

Minster Ward 
1 Horse Chestnut. 
Reduce crown by 2 
metres to clear 
property roof. 
 
1 Birch. 
Reduce crown by 30% 
to prevent damage to 
property roof. 
 
 

Approve. 

9 N/A Rear garden of 11 
Kenner Close 

Moorland Ward 
4 self-set Sycamores 
Fell, as part of garden 
improvements, to 
improve access to rear 
garages and to reduce 
light suppression in 
garden. 
 

Approve and replant with 4 
Field Maples in an 

appropriate location. 

10 N/A St Peter at Gowts 
Church, High Street. 
 

Park Ward 
2 Maples 
Prune to reduce 
crowns away from 
property. 
 
 

Approve. 

     

 

19



This page is intentionally blank.



Application Number: 2016/1140/FUL 

Site Address: 10-12 Lindum Terrace and 30-32 Sewell Road, Lincoln  

Target Date: 27th January 2017 

Agent Name: Franklin Ellis Architects 

Applicant Name: Dr Sharaf Salem 

Proposal: Creation of new medical village, to include a flexible mix of 
primary and secondary health care services (Use Classes D1 
(Non-residential Institutions) and C2 (Residential Institutions) 
of the Town and Country Planning Use Classes Order 1987, 
as amended). Refurbishment, conversion and extension of 
Nos. 10, 11 and 12 Lindum Terrace, including some 
demolition; erection of a two storey building with additional 
accommodation linking the existing buildings and under croft 
parking beneath. Alterations to existing access to Sewell Road 
and Lindum Terrace; provision of parking and bicycle, 
motorcycle and ambulance bays; and associated soft and hard 
landscaping. (REVISED PLANS). 

 
Background - Site Location and Description 
 
The application site is situated in uphill Lincoln within the Lindum and Arboretum 
Conservation Area and occupies a triangular area of land at the corner of Sewell Road and 
Lindum Terrace (Sewell Road runs along the northern boundary of the site and Lindum 
Terrace the southern boundary). The predominant character of the area is residential but 
the car parks to the Hospital are a shorty distance to the east. Across Lindum Terrace is 
the Arboretum. 
 
Three of the buildings within the site, Nos. 10/11 and 12 Lindum Terrace, were formerly 
residences but Nos. 10/11 have been used more recently by the County Council's 
Emotional & Behavioural Support Service. However, they have been vacant for some time 
and the site itself has become overgrown. These are accessed by two separate driveways 
and partially split by a change in levels between the two groups of buildings. No. 12 also 
includes a sizeable brick chimney stack, which served the heating system for the three 
properties. 
 
The application site also includes two dwellings which are accessed from Sewell Road and 
currently occupied. 
 
The Proposals 
 
The application is to establish, what the applicant describes as a ‘Medical Village’, which 
would operate as a private hospital. 
 
The new facility will house directly related provision for care within the hospital including 
two operating theatres; a series of post-operation recovery and intensive care beds; and a 
range of consulting and treatment rooms. In addition, there will also be provision for 
ancillary offices/admin; laboratories; staff/nursing accommodation (including some staff 
residential accommodation); training rooms; kitchen, toilet and changing facilities; and 
storage and plant. 
 
The proposals are split into two distinct phases, the first being to renovate and extend the 
existing buildings and the second linking the two groups of buildings to house a much 

21

Item No. 4a



larger amount of floorspace, including a ground floor car park and servicing. The new 
buildings would be comparable in height with those that are already situated within the 
site. 
 
Ultimately, the applicant has suggested that the internal layout will need to be responsive 
to future demand. Therefore, room uses would be interchangeable, where possible, so 
there would be changes to the layout set out on the revised floor plans. In addition, in 
order to be flexible, the hospital would have the ability to operate outside normal working 
hours to suit patient’s availability but the applicant has suggested that the function in a 
private capacity would spread out visitor movements during the day. 
 
Site History 
 
No Relevant Site History. 
 
Case Officer Site Visit 
 
Undertaken on 3rd February 2017. 
 
Policies Referred to 
 
Policy LP1 A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 9 
Policy LP2 The Spatial Strategy and Settlement Hierarchy 10 
Policy LP5 Delivering Prosperity and Jobs 22 
Policy LP9 Health and Wellbeing 31 
Policy LP13 Accessibility and Transport 40 
Policy LP14 Managing Water Resources and Flood Risk 44 
Policy LP16 Development on Land affected by Contamination 47 
Policy LP21 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 54 
Policy LP25 The Historic Environment 60 
Policy LP26 Design and Amenity 63 
Policy LP36 Access and Movement within the Lincoln Area 85 
The National Planning Policy Framework 
 
Issues 
 
In this instance the main issues are considered to be as follows:- 
 

1. Previous Consideration at the Planning Committee and Subsequent Events 
2. The Principle of the Development; 
3. The Impact of the Design of the Proposals; 
4. The Implications of the Proposals upon Amenity; 
5. Other Matters; and 
6. The Planning Balance. 

 
Consultations 
 
Consultations were carried out in accordance with the Statement of Community 
Involvement, adopted May 2014.  
 
 
 

22



Statutory Consultation Responses 
 

Consultee Comment  

 
Highways & Planning 

 
Comments Received 
 

 
Historic England 

 
Comments Received 
 

 
Monks Road Neighbourhood 
Initiative 
 

 
No Response Received 
 

 
Lincoln Civic Trust 

 
Objection 
 

 
The Bat Conservation Trust 

 
Do not comment on applications 
 

 
Natural England 

 
Comments Received 
 

 
Public Consultation Responses 
 

Name Address  

Mrs Annette Lumb Cross O Cliff Court 
Bracebridge Heath 
Lincoln 
LN4 2HN  

Anglian Water   

Alison And John Epton Cliff House 
2 Eastcliff Road 
Lincoln 
Lincolnshire 
LN2 5RU 

Dr M J Lewins 28 Sewell Road 
Lincoln 
Lincolnshire 
LN2 5RY  

N.F.Hackett 27 Sewell Road 
Lincoln 
Lincolnshire 
LN2 5RY  

Dr Neil Williams 29 Sewell Road 
Lincoln 
Lincolnshire 
LN2 5RY  

Mrs Ruth Curry 9 Sewell's Walk 
Lincoln 
LN5 7TF  

23



A R Wylde 9 St Annes Bedehouses 
Sewell Road 
Lincoln 
Lincolnshire 
LN2 5QS  

 
Consideration 
 
1) Previous Consideration at the Planning Committee and Subsequent Events 
 
a) Consideration by Members and the Subsequent Resolution 
 
The Minutes of the Planning Committee held on 24 May 2017 record that Members 
discussed the content of the original officer report and commented as follows:- 
 

 the application was described as a medical village but it was appreciated, following 
comments by a speaker, that the proposals would be for a hospital; 

 the nature of the use of the building would govern what impacts there would be in 
terms of traffic and noise. Moreover, it was suggested that a hospital would be more 
problematic than an advanced GP facility in terms of traffic gaining access and 
egress; 

 a report was required from the Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
regarding plans for the site;  

 the proximity of the nearest bus stop being close to the Adam and Eve led Members 
to query how had the conclusion been reached that visitors could reach this 
destination without a car /taxi; and  

 in a similar manner, there were concerns that the proposal was unsustainable for 
the highways network in terms of access and congestion.  

 
During the meeting, the Planning Manager confirmed that the description and operation of 
the development formed part of use classes relevant to hospitals, as such the reference to 
a ‘Medical Village’ was principally due to the fact that this was the description provided as 
part of the application and there was no reason to not rely on this as part of the application 
description.  
 
Following discussion, a motion was carried to defer the application to allow further 
discussions with the applicant regarding the plans for the site. 
 
b) Summary of the Information Provided by the Applicant 
 
The applicant has provided a statement which clarifies a number of points regarding the 
proposed use. Moreover, the proposals would be for a fully private facility and the floor 
plans have been updated to provide an indication of the layout and purpose of rooms for 
each floor. Further details of the shift patterns of staff are provided, along with the 
anticipated staffing. 
 
It is proposed that the area to be accessed from Sewell Road would now only be utilised 
for staff parking, which would be controlled with a barrier system. The parking in this area 
has also been reconfigured and landscaping included along the North-Western boundary.  
 
In addition, the external clinical waste store has been relocated to the southern side of the 
site, adjacent to Lindum Terrace, and the applicant has clarified the size of refuse vehicle 

24



that would be required. 
 
c) Further Consultation Undertaken by Officers 
 
At the request of Members, officers liaised with the Lincolnshire West Clinical 
Commissioning Group. Officers confirmed, after consultation with the applicant, that it is 
their intention not to operate the proposed ‘Medical Village’ on a public basis. As such, the 
‘Medical Village’ will operate as a private hospital and would not expect the NHS to 
commission the buildings or services offered for primary or other care that would be 
offered. 
 
The LWCCG suggested that provision on this basis would be at the applicant’s “own risk 
with no commitment from the CCG to commission any services.” In addition, they have 
also suggested that the implications of the proposals in terms of waste collection have 
been discussed with their ‘lead for health protection’, who has confirmed that it would not 
be possible for them to comment on this matter without knowing a number of factors:- 
 

 Type of clinical work proposed; 

 Amount of clinical work proposed; 

 Amount of patients being seen; 

 Hours of operation; and 

 Type of clinical waste. 
 

However, Members will note that the applicant has confirmed the nature of vehicle that 
may be required for such servicing. 
 
2) The Principle of the Development  

 
a) Relevant Planning Policies 
 
i) Sustainable Development and the Proposed Uses 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and S70(2) of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 requires that applications for planning permission must be 
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) is a material 
consideration in determining planning applications. Framework paragraph 215 indicates 
that due weight should be given to relevant policies in the development plan according to 
their consistency with the Framework i.e. the closer the policies in the plan to the policies 
in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given. 
 
The development plan comprises the recently adopted Central Lincolnshire Local Plan (the 
Plan) and the policies therein were tested for their compliance with the Framework. 
 
Paragraph 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) outlines the 
following in relation to the principle of development:  
 
"At the heart of the National Planning Policy Framework is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development, which should be seen as a golden thread running through both 
plan making and decision taking. 
 
For decision taking this means (unless material considerations indicate otherwise): 

25



 

 approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 
delay; and 

 where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, 
granting permission unless: 

 any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
taken as a whole; or 

 specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be restricted.  
 
In terms of sustainable development, Paragraph 7 of the Framework suggests that there 
are three dimensions: economic, social and environmental. “These dimensions give rise to 
the need for the planning system to perform a number of roles: 
 

 an economic role – contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure; 

 a social role – supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the 
supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; 
and by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that 
reflect the community’s needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being; 
and 

 an environmental role – contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built 
and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use 
natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt 
to climate change including moving to a low carbon economy.” 

 
Policy LP1 of the Plan supports this approach and advocates that proposals that accord 
with the Plan should be approved, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
In terms of the spatial dimension of sustainability, proposals need to demonstrate that they 
contribute to the creation of a strong, cohesive and inclusive community, making use of 
previously developed land and enable larger numbers of people to access jobs, services 
and facilities locally, whilst not affecting the delivery of allocated sites and strengthening 
the role of Lincoln (Policy LP2). 
 
Meanwhile, Policy LP5 supports the growth of job creating development which also 
supports economic prosperity but only where proposals have considered suitable allocated 
sites or buildings or within the built up area of the settlement; and the scale of what is 
proposed is commensurate with its location. 
 
Notwithstanding the above, the policy that is directly of most relevance to the proposals 
would be Policy LP9, which refers to proposals for new health care facilities. This suggests 
that these facilities should be well related to sustainable transport options and accessible 
to all sectors of the community. What is more, the policy specifically refers to the 
coordination with existing health facilities and suggests that proposals which promote 
multi-use and co-location would assist with the provision of local care and provide 
convenience for the community. 
 
 
 

26



ii) Sustainable Access, Highway Safety and Traffic Capacity  
 
A number of policies are relevant to the access, parking and highway design of residential 
proposals. In the context of Paragraph 32 of the Framework, the residual cumulative 
impacts of the development would need to be severe for proposals to warrant refusal. 
Meanwhile, Paragraph 35 requires that: “developments should be located and designed 
where practical to [amongst other things] give priority to pedestrian and cycle movements, 
and have access to high quality public transport facilities; and should be located and 
designed where practical to create safe and secure layouts which minimise conflicts 
between traffic and cyclists or pedestrians, avoiding street clutter and where appropriate 
establishing home zones". 
 
Policy LP5 of the Plan also refers to the impact upon the local highway network and 
suggests that opportunities for modal shift away from the private car should be maximised. 
This is expanded upon through Policy LP13 which deals more specifically with transport. 
The key points of the policy are that “all developments should demonstrate, where 
appropriate, that they have had regard to the 
following criteria: 
 

a) Located where travel can be minimised and the use of sustainable transport modes 
maximised; 

b) Minimise additional travel demand through the use of measures such as travel 
planning, safe and convenient public transport, walking and cycling links and 
integration with existing infrastructure; 

c) Should provide well designed, safe and convenient access for all, giving priority to 
the needs of pedestrians, cyclists, people with impaired mobility and users of public 
transport by providing a network of pedestrian and cycle routes and green corridors, 
linking to existing routes where opportunities exist, that give easy access and 
permeability to adjacent areas” 

 
There are also transport measures referred to in Policy LP36, which more specifically 
refers to development in the ‘Lincoln Area’, the key measures of relevance to the 
development are: 
 

a) Supporting sustainable growth in the Lincoln area through making best use of the 
existing transport infrastructure and contributing toward it where additional needs 
are created as a result of development; 

b) Encouraging and supporting development proposals that contribute positively 
toward the centre of Lincoln and reduce the need to travel especially by car and 
encourage the use of public transport in line with emerging plans such as those for 
the Lincoln Transport Hub; 

c) Supporting the promotion of an integrated public transport system through 
facilitating provision and encouraging use of the local bus network and rail network 
and by developing Park & Ride/Park and Rail; 

d) Promoting Sustainable Transport Initiatives through supporting schemes such as 
Access Lincoln which maximises opportunities for people to make more sustainable 
journeys by walking, cycling, public transport, car sharing and development of travel 
plans; 

e) Improving accessibility where possible for those who do not have readily available 
access to a car. 

 
 

27



iii) Air Quality 
 
Paragraph 109 of the NPPF introduces the section in relation to the conservation and 
enhancement of the natural environment. Given that the site is located adjacent within the 
Air Quality Management Areas (declared by the Council due to the likely exceedance of 
the national air quality objectives for nitrogen dioxide and particulate matter), this section 
of the NPPF should be given great weight. It states that “the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by…preventing both new and 
existing development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from, or being 
adversely affected by unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land 
instability”. 
 
Paragraph 120 sets the scene and refers to development being “appropriate for its 
location”. It goes on to say that “the effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on 
health, the natural environment or general amenity, and the potential sensitivity of the area 
or proposed development to adverse effects from pollution, should be taken into account.” 
Paragraph 124 refers in more detail to the implications of the location of development 
within an Air Quality Management Area and requires that “planning decisions should 
ensure that any new development in Air Quality Management Areas is consistent with the 
local air quality action plan”. 
 
Meanwhile, Policy LP13 of the Plan also refers to air quality and requires that “all 
developments should demonstrate, where appropriate, that they…ensure allowance is 
made for low and ultra-low emission vehicle refuelling infrastructure.” 
 
b) Sustainable Development and the Proposed Uses 
 
i) The Principle of the Use 
 
The proposals are for a two phases of development which could ultimately deliver a 
significant element of new residential and non-residential health care services in a 
sustainable location. Being situated in the city and in close proximity with the hospital the 
proposals could help to coordinate future health provision as supported by the policy 
principles of the Plan. 
 
As noted above, the Lincolnshire West Clinical Commissioning Group have returned 
comments on the application to suggest that they would not take on any of the services 
that would be offered by the proposals. As such, if the proposals were granted permission, 
it would be in the knowledge that they would be at the risk of the applicant meeting a 
private need. However, the applicant has indicated that this would be the focus of the 
development in any case. Moreover, the fact that the proposed hospital care would be for 
private purposes should not be a reason to reject the application, particularly as the 
applicant has rightly pointed out that "the proposed development will both increase and 
improve the provision of community healthcare facilities”. 
 
The updated plans provided by the applicant offer greater clarity in relation to how the 
uses within Phase 2 could operate in the future but the applicant has acknowledged that 
this could change based upon future need. Despite the scope of Phase 2 potentially 
altering, the vision for the site provides a clear indication of how the first phase of the 
development could be implemented in isolation were the second phase not to materialise. 
As such, the delivery of the second phase is not essential to the wider operation of the 
site. Moreover, the application has robustly evidenced the implications upon the site 

28



environs associated with each phase, such that it is possible to understand what changes 
would result from Phase 1 and the requirements for the operation of the buildings 
independent of Phase 2. This is referred to in the sections that follow and the plan 
presentation. 
 
In light of the above, officers would advise Members that the principle of the proposed use 
would be acceptable in this location. Furthermore, officers recognise that the development 
would deliver economic and social sustainability directly through the construction of the 
development and indirectly through the job creation associated with the development. In 
addition, the erection of development in this location would not in itself undermine 
sustainable principles of development subject to other matters. Notwithstanding this, it is 
important to consider the wider sustainability of the development. 
 
ii) Potential Restrictions in Use 
 
Notwithstanding this, based upon the concerns expressed by Members, officers have 
sought to establish whether it would be possible to restrict the uses proposed under the 
use categories relevant to the application in order provide greater certainty regarding the 
potential impact of those uses. Below is an extract from the Planning Portal regarding the 
uses under each relevant category referred to in this application:-  
 

 D1 Non-residential institutions - Clinics, health centres, crèches, day nurseries, 
day centres, schools, art galleries (other than for sale or hire), museums, libraries, 
halls, places of worship, church halls, law court. Nonresidential education and 
training centres. 

 

 C2 Residential institutions - Residential care homes, hospitals, nursing homes, 
boarding schools, residential colleges and training centres. 

 
As Members will note, the above uses are very similar in terms of the way in which they 
operate. Moreover, a care home could have similar impacts to a hospital in terms of staff 
turnover and visitor arrivals. As such, officers are not satisfied that the Council could 
legitimately control the use within these categories, as this would neither be reasonable or 
enforceable in the context of the requirements of Paragraph 206 of the Framework. 
 
c) Sustainable Access, Highway Safety, Traffic Capacity  
 
A number of comments have been received in relation to the location of the proposed 
development and its implications upon access, parking and traffic. In particular, it is 
suggested that Phase 2 of the development would result in additional traffic movements 
and on-street parking in the area, in the knowledge that Lindum Terrace is a very busy 
street due to school activity and commuter parking. Consequently, residents are 
concerned that the proposals would result in further impacts upon highway safety, 
particularly during peak periods and to elderly persons, when Lindum Terrace is parked 
and the schools open. 
 
i) Impacts of Parking 
 
As alluded to elsewhere in the report, officers have noted that Members were concerned 
that there may not be sufficient parking in general to serve the development and that the 
location does not enable integrated transport to operate, particularly due to the uphill 
position and how this could discourage cycling; as well as the distance from bus stops. 

29



Members have queried whether it may be possible to provide a Travel Plan for the 
development to address these concerns and the applicant has committed to bringing 
forward a development which reduces car dependency, as encouraged by the Highway 
Authority. Notwithstanding this, officers consider that it would be reasonable to restrict the 
parking not specifically allocated for staff within the site in order that it is only maintained 
for short stays and not for residential care; and that this parking is provided free-of-charge, 
both which can be secured through a legal agreement. The latter is a point that the 
Highway Authority has also encouraged to reduce the pressure of parking elsewhere, 
particularly by staff. 
 
Concerns have also been raised regarding the amount of parking for staff, which is said to 
be insufficient. Furthermore, the arrangements for servicing were originally questioned as 
the layout could have led to service vehicles reversing into the site from Sewell Road. 
However, Members will note that the applicant has suggested that the parking area 
located to the northwest of the site would now be dedicated for members of staff, which 
would be controlled via a barrier system. This would enable this area to be solely for that 
purpose and remove any conflict between parking and service provision. However, this 
would need to be controlled by planning condition. 
 
Finally in relation to this matter, residents have enquired whether officers can request that 
the applicant pays for the implementation of a Traffic Regulation Order to restrict parking 
on Sewell Road. Officers consider that this would not be a reasonably related request, as 
the road is a public highway and could be parked on by any individual. As such, it would 
be difficult to directly associate any parking in the street with the proposed uses so it would 
not be necessary for the applicant to resolve an outstanding matter that is not directly 
related to the application. 
 
ii) Servicing and Ambulance Access 
 
As a result of this, it is proposed that there would not be any servicing or other associated 
access to the building in this location. As such, ambulance and other patient drop-off, 
along with servicing, would be from the front of the building, accessed off Lindum Terrace. 
Moreover, as alluded to earlier in the report, the external clinical waste store has been 
relocated to the southern side of the site and the applicant has stipulated that the vehicles 
used to remove the waste will be no larger than a normal residential refuse vehicle. 
Similarly, ambulances would also arrive in this location and would be parked in designated 
spaces situated here. 
 
iii) Vehicular Speeds 
 
Residents have also raised the potential for vehicle speeds to be restricted from the 
access of the site. Whilst officers can encourage the applicants to provide a traffic 
management scheme for the site to control such matters, it would not be possible to 
control vehicle speeds, as this would not be possible to enforce and would be an 
unreasonable request due to the fact that other access along Sewell Road and Lindum 
Terrace could equally generate concerns of this nature. 
 
iv)  Summary 
 
Concerns about implications upon the highway and parking are a matter affecting the 
development overall and Members will note that the Highway Authority have clarified that 
they expect that the proposed development should be supported by a Travel Plan and 

30



controls over the parking. However, they do not object to the application. In light of this, 
officers would advise Members that it would be problematic to raise any objections to the 
application upon the grounds identified above. 
 
d) Air Quality 
 
Whilst there has been no specific supplementary planning guidance produced in relation to 
air quality, the quality of air throughout the city has been monitored, and the clear goal of 
the action plan is to improve air quality, as advocated by the current Local Plan. 
 
Residents have identified that the proposals could impact upon air quality but the Council’s 
Pollution Control Officer has suggested that it is unlikely that the development of this site in 
isolation would result in significant air quality implications. However, the development 
would be likely to add to the existing burden on air quality within the city due to the large 
amount of off-street parking to be provided. As such, it would be expected that the 
applicant seeks to mitigate against these additional cumulative air quality impacts. It is 
anticipated that this would be through on-site provision of charging points for electric 
vehicles. This seems entirely reasonable and proportionate to the scale of development. 
Officers would advise Members that this matter can be addressed by planning condition 
(potentially for each phase). 

 
e) Summary on this Issue 
 
Officers have been provided with information comparing the application proposals with the 
BMI Lincoln Hospital, including the differences in the provision of operating theatres; and 
staffing and parking that would be required, although a hospital can operate differently 
depending on the way in which it is managed, the current proposals and the planning 
conditions and other controls that officers have suggested would enable the Council to 
provide greater controls over the way in which this hospital would operate in the future, 
which do not necessarily apply to the hospital that officers have been asked to consider. 
Moreover, the applicant has provided a summary of how their private hospital would 
operate, it is suggested that procedures would be arranged with the hospital, whereas the 
commentary offered by the resident points towards the model of a busy hospital that would 
roll out procedures 24hrs a day. 
 
In the context of all of the above, the proposals would offer benefits to economic and social 
sustainability through jobs created/sustained through construction and the future operation 
of the uses. In addition, subject to the controls that have been suggested, there is also no 
evidence to suggest matters of congestion or road safety and the impacts upon air quality 
would warrant refusal of the application due to the social or environmental sustainability of 
the development. It is therefore the recommendation of officers that suitable planning 
conditions could be designed to ensure that the development would be sustainable. 
However, these are only a few of the issues relevant to the consideration of the three 
dimensions of sustainability. 
 
3) The Impact of the Design of the Proposals 
 
a)  Relevant Planning Policy 
 
So far as this issue is concerned, as alluded to above, the proposals must achieve 
sustainable development and it is the social dimension of sustainability that relates to 
design. Moreover, Paragraph 7 of the Framework requires the creation of high quality built 

31



environment. In addition, the policy principles outlined in Paragraphs 17, 58, 60, 61 and 64 
of the Framework also apply. Moreover, the Framework states that good design is a key 
aspect of sustainable development and is indivisible from good planning. Design is to 
contribute positively to making places better for people (para. 56). To accomplish this 
development is to establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to 
create attractive and comfortable places to live and responding to local character and 
history (para. 58). It is also proper to seek to promote or reinforce local distinctiveness 
(para. 60). 
 
At the local level, the Council, in partnership with English Heritage, have undertaken the 
Lincoln Townscape Appraisal (the LTA), which has resulted in the systematic identification 
of 105 separate “character areas” within the City. The application site lies within the 
Lindum Terrace Character Area.  
 
Policy LP26 of the Plan which requires that “all development, including extensions and 
alterations to existing buildings, must achieve high quality sustainable design that 
contributes positively to local character, landscape and townscape, and supports diversity, 
equality and access for all.” The policy includes 12 detailed and diverse principles which 
should be assessed. This policy is supported by Policy LP5 which also refers to the impact 
on the character and appearance of the area. 
 
Meanwhile, Section 12 of the Framework also refers to the impacts of development upon 
designated heritage assets and is supported by Policy LP25 also applies as it specifically 
refers to the impacts of developments upon these assets. 
 
In terms of conservation areas, the policy requires that development should either 
enhance or reinforce features that contribute positively to the area’s character, appearance 
and setting. Meanwhile, proposals also need to have regard to the setting of other 
designated assets, including listed buildings. 
 
b) Historic and Recent Context of the Application Site and its Surroundings 
 
The application site is situated within the Lindum and Arboretum conservation area and is 
occupied by three dwellings which have historic and architectural value, which would 
warrant them being considered undesignated heritage assets in the context of national 
planning policy. Moreover, the properties are representative of the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area being good quality substantial villa type properties of 
bespoke design set within generous grounds. Nos. 10 and 11 in particular were 
intentionally built as a matched pair with a close spatial relationship, whereas no. 12 has a 
traditional detached villa layout. All properties enjoy high quality building materials and 
decorative architectural elements. 
 
Unfortunately in recent years vacancy has caused the fabric of the buildings to deteriorate 
and the two plots have become increasingly unsightly, the physical state of no. 12 is 
especially acute. 
 
Officers consider that the application offers an opportunity to address the poor state of 
repair and provide a new use to sustain the site into the future. Extensive pre-application 
discussions have taken place with the Council’s Principal Conservation Officer and 
Planning Officers, which have included the aims of securing appropriate works to restore 
these properties. In particular, there have been lengthy discussions to ensure that the 

32



scale of buildings are appropriately scaled, in component parts in order to relate to 
established buildings within the conservation area. 
 
c)  Assessment of the Implications of the Proposals 
 
The visual implications of the proposals for the site are key to the assimilation of 
development into its context and the creation of high quality built environment and Historic 
England has suggested that the Council would need to undertake an assessment of the 
public benefits of the development in the context of the harm that they suggest is caused 
by the proposals. Officers do not agree that there is harm to the conservation area so 
would not necessarily undertake the tests referred to. However, there are clear benefits 
associated with the proposals, which are referred to below.  
 
i) Phase One 
 
The proposed alterations to the existing buildings within the site are primarily to improve 
circulation around the buildings through extension incorporating lift and stair provision but 
also to provide additional accommodation within the existing building envelope. The former 
involves the removal of the existing link between Nos. 10 and 11 and its replacement with 
a full height link between the two buildings. 
 
Moreover, the applicant has taken on board concerns originally expressed by Historic 
England and the new reception element of this extension has been designed to respect 
and compliment the architectural prominence of the existing buildings. This is achieved by 
being physically set back from the building line, responding to the strong horizontal 
emphasis of their design and offering a lightweight and highly glazed juxtaposition to the 
traditional solid to mass ratio. In terms of visual intrusion, this has been addressed by the 
cascade arrangement of storeys. Foremost is the porch element which emulates the 
breakfront features provided by the existing flanking bay windows. At first floor level the 
new element is set back from the front face of the building whilst at 2nd floor level the step 
beck is considerably pronounced which also allows for the preservation of the decorative 
stucco feature on the return wall of no. 10. 
 
Similarly, in terms of No. 12, there is a new stair tower proposed, which would be to the 
north of the building, and thereby visible from Sewell Road. The scale of this addition is 
sensible and visually relates to the architecture, form and proportions of the existing 
building. Ultimately this element would be enclosed by Phase 2 but its contribution is 
important if that phase does not come about. Consequently, it is vitally important to control 
the visual appearance of the development through planning conditions in relation to 
materials. 
 
In the context of the renovation works proposed to No. 12, although a resident has 
suggested that the chimney should be removed, as they consider that it is no longer 
required for a modern heating system, offers welcome its retention as well as the removal 
of an unsightly balcony arrangement to its eastern façade. In particular, the former makes 
a positive contribution to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 
 
The parking for the development would be to its frontage with Lindum Terrace but set back 
behind within the site and visually screened by a combination of the topography of the site 
in relation to the street and the presence of existing landscaping and the boundary walls. 
As such, the proposed parking would not be visually harmful to the character and 
appearance of the conservation in its own right. However, it would still be important to 

33



control the visual appearance of this area and its lighting through appropriately worded 
planning conditions. 
 
ii) Phase Two 
 
This is the more significant of the two phases and, whilst the proposed new elements are 
substantial in terms of floor area, their design has responded appropriately to the scale, 
form and materials of the historic buildings achieving a subordinate relationship which 
avoids the new elements competing in terms of visual hierarchy. 
 
In terms of the southern face of the development, the new reception area spanning the 
gap between Nos. 11 and 12 incorporates a large proportion of glazing, which promotes a 
sense of permeability and low visual intrusion when viewed in the context of the highly 
decorative and substantial massing of the existing properties. 
 
It is considered that a carefully considered palette of materials, architectural detailing, 
deep roofscapes, combination of gables and hipped roofs provide visual interest and 
distinctiveness and avoids undue massing and dominance despite the extent of the 
proposed new extensions. As a consequence of picking up these key design cues, the 
proposals are visually related to the existing buildings within the conservation area without 
slavishly copying these established buildings. As such, they are considered to preserve 
the character and appearance of the conservation area in views towards the site from 
within the conservation area. This includes key views from Lindum Terrace and Sewell 
Road where the development maintains consistency with the established principle of the 
presence of built forms set some distance behind tall walls which provide the primary 
sense of enclosure along the streetscene. The proposed layout within the grounds also 
preserves the open urban grain as perceived in these views. The inclusion of modern 
elements of architecture, such as for the main entrance and servicing area also of visual 
interest. 
 
The only exception to this is the revisions to Phase 2 to include storage of clinical waste to 
the frontage of Lindum Terrace. Clearly the introduction of a clinical waste store to this 
frontage would present a challenge in terms of the potential visual implications but officers 
are satisfied that landscaping could be implemented which would have an immediate 
impact in the interim to allow time for permanent landscaping to develop. 
 
d) Summary on this Issue 
 
Although the proposals are for a large scale development within the Conservation Area, 
officers are satisfied that the proposed development could be accommodated within the 
site without being harmful to the character or appearance of the area and that built 
development could improve the social and environmental sustainability of the locality as 
required by the Framework. 
 
4)  The Implications of the Proposals upon Amenity 
 
a)  Relevant Planning Policy 
 
In terms of national policy, the NPPF suggests that development that results in poor 
design and/or impacts upon the quality of peoples’ lives would not amount to sustainable 
development. Consequently, the implications of both are key to the consideration of the 
acceptability of the principle of development within a given site. Moreover, the Framework 

34



(Paragraph 9) sees “seeking positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and 
historic environment, as well as in people’s quality of life” as being important to the delivery 
of sustainable development, through “replacing poor design with better design” and 
“improving the conditions in which people live” amongst others. Furthermore, the core 
principles of the Framework (Paragraph 17) indicate that “planning should…always seek to 
secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future 
occupants of land and buildings”. Both aspects are referred to in detail in the following two 
sections of this report. 
 
Policy 26 of the Plan deals with design and amenity. The latter refers to the amenities 
which all existing and future occupants of neighbouring land and buildings may reasonably 
expect to enjoy and suggests that these must not be unduly harmed by, or as a result of, 
the development. There are nine specific criteria which must be considered. Policy LP5 of 
the Plan also refers to the impact upon the amenity of neighbouring occupiers. These 
policies are in line with the policy principles outlined in Paragraphs 17, 59 and 123 of the 
NPPF. Indeed, Paragraph 123 of the Framework suggests that “decisions should aim 
to…avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life 
as a result of new development”. 
 
b)  Assessment of the Implications of the Proposals 
 
i) Noise and Disturbance 
 
The occupiers of adjacent properties have suggested that the proposals for Phase 2 of the 
development would result in intrusive noise in a residential area 24hrs a day, seven days a 
week. Whilst officers appreciate that the operation of the eventual uses within the buildings 
erected as part of Phase 2 would result in a change in site circumstances and additional 
activity, due to the scale of the development, it is unlikely that there would be significant 
movements and activity throughout the day. Moreover, the greatest level of activity 
associated with the development is likely to be within the southern frontage of the site 
where the main reception and parking areas would be situated, which would not be directly 
alongside neighbouring properties. 
 

35



  
Original Layout    Revised Layout 

 
Members will note from the images above that the layout and nature of use of the area to 
the northwestern corner of the site has been reconfigured to reduce the amount of parking 
immediately along the boundary of the site. In addition, landscaping has been added to the 
boundary to act as a further buffer to neighbouring properties; and the service area has 
also been relocated to the Lindum Terrace frontage. 
 
Notwithstanding these changes, officers appreciate that there will be a noticeable increase 
in noise and disturbance in this area due to the comings and goings of staff. However, it is 
important to note that the movements in this location would not be consistent as they 
would be associated with morning and afternoon shift patterns and that much of the 
parking is situated under the canopy of the building. Residents have also suggested that 
noise from activity would spill out into Sewell Road creating noise and disturbance in a 
residential area. However, as Sewell Road is a through route traffic is currently 
unrestricted. Therefore, whilst there would be a change in circumstances associated with 
the nature of the parking and movements associated with the proposed uses, this change 
would not be so detrimentally harmful to warrant the refusal of the application upon such 
grounds or warrant a change to the application. What is more, with the provision of a 
Travel Plan, the impacts of the development could be mitigated to ensure that staff are 
able to utilise various means of travel, not just private vehicles, which residents appear to 
have concerns in relation to.   
 
In terms of staffing, the applicant has indicated that there will be a maximum of 50 staff at 
any one time on the site and that general staff movements will reflect the normal working 
pattern of a private medical facility. Consultations are anticipated to be undertaken 
between 8am – 1pm and 4pm - 9pm. However, there will be some staffing required 
overnight, to ensure that the facility is adequately staffed to be open 24/7 to accommodate 

36



patient recovery; and flexibility to allow for some out of hours work in evenings and 
weekends.  
 
Although the servicing has moved to the frontage of Lindum Terrace, the noise 
implications of this would be transferred from one location to the other. As such, controls 
on the access to service vehicles would still be required to minimise the disturbance 
caused to residents at unsociable hours. This approach is suggested by the Council’s 
Pollution Control Officer, who suggests a planning condition to control these hours to not 
before 7am or after 7pm (Monday to Saturday). This seems reasonable for a residential 
context and should go some way to addressing the concerns identified in relation to the 
removal of waste from the storage areas, in line with criteria (t) of Policy LP26. Similarly, in 
terms of the noise associated with construction and deliveries, officers agree with the 
Council’s Pollution Control Officer that it would be reasonable to control these through 
planning conditions to protect the amenities of existing residents. 
 
Finally, Members will note that concerns were expressed regarding the absence of 
information regarding kitchen extraction and any other plant and machinery for the 
development, including the impacts of any noise / odour associated with these. However, 
the floor plans that have been provided by the applicant allude to the fact that the plant 
required by operating theatres and other elements of the building can be accommodated 
within the building itself, above operating theatres. Although neighbours remain to be 
convinced that plant will not cause issues due to the projection of extract points above the 
roof of the building, as with all other applications for commercial development, the precise 
design and mitigation for these point(s) can be agreed by planning condition. This would 
ensure that there would not be harm caused to the occupants of neighbouring properties 
by noise and/or fumes. Therefore officers can assure Members that these details could be 
designed and located in a suitable manner to avoid harm being caused to the amenities of 
nearby occupiers. Again, this approach is also supported by the Council’s Pollution Control 
Officer who recommends planning conditions to cover these matters. 
 
ii) Scale 
 
The application content includes elevations of the proposals in context so it is possible to 
determine whether there would be any implications upon neighbouring properties. Based 
upon the separation distances of the proposed buildings from existing properties, either 
across streets or adjacent to the site, officers are satisfied that the scale of the proposed 
development would not result in unacceptably harmful overbearing impacts or lead to an 
unacceptable loss of light to habitable rooms. Similarly, these same relationships would 
also ensure that any new windows would not result in a harmful degree of overlooking or a 
direct loss of privacy to the detriment of the occupiers of adjacent properties. 
 
Notwithstanding this, it is important to have in mind that there are already two residences 
located in the northwestern corner of the site, which would be demolished as part of Phase 
2, which could currently overlook neighbouring properties or have other similar impacts 
alluded to above. 
 
iii) Other Amenities 
 
The proposed levels are not known and could have the potential to impact upon 
neighbouring properties or buildings. As such, it would seem to be a reasonable request 
that the final levels within the site are agreed prior to works starting on site. 
 

37



c) The Planning Balance 
 
Taking all the above in to account, it is considered that the proposed development of the 
site could be accommodated without causing unacceptable harm. Moreover, with 
satisfactory controls over the matters referred to above, the proposals would be socially 
and environmentally sustainable in the context of the Framework and would accord with 
the policies in the Local Plan. 
 
5) Other Matters 
 
a) Land Contamination 
 
i)  Relevant Planning Policy 
 
As with air quality, Paragraph 109 of the Framework also refers to contamination. 
Paragraph 120 expands upon this and suggests that “to prevent unacceptable risks from 
pollution and land instability, planning policies and decisions should ensure that new 
development is appropriate for its location. The effects (including cumulative effects) of 
pollution on health, the natural environment or general amenity, and the potential 
sensitivity of the area or proposed development to adverse effects from pollution, should 
be taken into account. Where a site is affected by contamination or land stability issues, 
responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner.”  
 
In addition Paragraph 121 states that planning decisions “should also ensure that:  
 

 the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land 
instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, 
pollution arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land 
remediation or impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation; 

 after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined 
as contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and 

 adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is 
presented.” 

 
In terms of Local Plan policies, given the location of the site, Policy LP16 directly refers to 
the requirements of development in relation to contaminated land. 
 
ii)  Assessment of the Implications of the Proposals 
 
The application is supported by a site investigation, which the Council’s Scientific Officer 
has referred. Officers are satisfied with the recommendations made and agree that 
conditions should be applied to any consent granted to the site in relation to the 
submission of a remediation scheme to deal with risks to human health; as well as its 
implementation; and reporting of other unexpected contamination. 
 
b) Site Drainage 
 
i)  Relevant Planning Policy 
 
The Framework sets out a strategy for dealing with flood risk in paragraphs 93-108 
inclusive. Meanwhile, Policy LP14 deals with drainage and sets out a detailed approach to 
how foul and surface water should be dealt with in new development. 

38



 
ii)  Assessment of the Implications of the Proposals 
 
In this instance, Anglian Water has suggested that there is capacity in the network to deal 
with waste and foul water from the development. However, they have requested a 
drainage scheme for the site with the preference being for a SUDs Scheme and 
subsequently recommended a planning condition to deal with this matter. Given the scale 
of the development and the proposals for hard landscaping within the site, it is considered 
that this would be a reasonable request of the applicant and that a scheme should be 
developed for each phase due to the different impacts of each phase. The LLFA does not 
object to the application, therefore, with this planning condition, the proposals would be in 
accordance with the aforementioned policies and the environmental dimension of 
sustainability outlined in Paragraph 7 of the Framework. 
 
c) Ecology 
 
i)  Relevant Planning Policy 
 
Policy LP21 refers to biodiversity and requires development proposals to “protect, manage 
and enhance the network of habitats, species and sites of international, national and local 
importance (statutory and non-statutory), including sites that meet the criteria for selection 
as a Local Site; minimise impacts on biodiversity and geodiversity; and seek to deliver a 
net gain in biodiversity and geodiversity.” 
 
The policy then goes on to consider the implications of any harm associated with 
development and how this should be mitigated. 
 
ii)  Assessment of the Implications of the Proposals upon Bats 
 
The application is supported by a Bat Survey, which includes results of monitoring carried 
out in 2015 and 2016, which suggests that Nos. 10 and 11 provide a daytime 
roost for small numbers of individual common and soprano pipistrelle bats, with a 
maximum of 1 and 2 bats recorded respectively; and four brown long-eared bats emerging 
or returning to roost. The recommendations are therefore that no unlicensed work can be 
undertaken which will contravene the relevant legislation until a licence has been obtained 
from Natural England. It is suggested that:- 
 
“The licence application process will include the submission of a method statement 
detailing the current status of bats on site and how the favourable conservation status of 
the bat population will be maintained. Prior to a licence being issued, planning permission 
must be granted and relevant conditions relating to protected species and habitat issues 
must be discharged.” 
 
As a consequence of this, the Council suggests that this methodology is also agreed with 
the Council to ensure that satisfactory mitigation would be in place to safeguard the bats 
prior to development commencing. 
 
iii)  Assessment of the Implications of the Proposals upon Trees 
 
In addition to the impact upon bats, the independent phases of the development would 
lead to implications upon existing trees within the site. Moreover, the first phase of the 
development would result in the loss of four Limes between the two separate accesses 

39



serving Nos. 10-11 and 12 respectively, in order to facilitate the proposed widening of this 
access to serve the development. The Council’s Arboricultural Officer has suggested that 
the prominence and contribution to the street scene would mean that their amenity value 
would need to be weighed against the potential benefits of improved access to the site. 
 
Whilst the loss of these trees is regrettable and a more open view would be created into 
the site with their loss, the trees either side of the new access would continue to overhang 
the access and the trees of wider significance, in terms of their amenity value, along the 
frontage of the site would be retained. Consequently, it is the opinion of officers that the 
harm to the character and appearance of the conservation area would not be sufficiently 
significant to warrant the proposals not being supported on these grounds, particularly as 
the removal of these trees would also help to reveal other significance within the 
conservation area, i.e. through the newly renovated and extended buildings. 
 
The trees to the north and west of the site which would be removed as a result of the 
proposed Phase 2 of the development would not take place unless Phase 2 occurs. 
However, some of the trees are very close to the existing buildings and do not have the 
same amenity value as other trees elsewhere within the site, particularly due to the more 
restricted views available from public areas. The Arboricultural Officer has not raised any 
concerns regarding these trees being removed and welcomes the proposals for 
replacement planting along the boundary of the site. As such, it is considered that the loss 
of trees in this location would also not be so significantly detrimental to the conservation 
area to warrant the application being refused.  
 
d) Archaeological Implications of the Development of the Site 
 
i)  Relevant Planning Policy 
 
Paragraph 128 of the Framework states that “in determining applications, local planning 
authorities should require an applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets 
affected, including any contribution made by their setting. The level of detail should be 
proportionate to the assets’ importance and no more than is sufficient to understand the 
potential impact of the proposal on their significance. As a minimum the relevant historic 
environment record should have been consulted and the heritage assets assessed using 
appropriate expertise where necessary. Where a site on which development is proposed 
includes or has the potential to include heritage assets with archaeological interest, local 
planning authorities should require developers to submit an appropriate desk-based 
assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation.” 
 
Paragraph 141 of the Framework states that LPAs should ‘require developers to record 
and advance understanding of the significance of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or 
in part) in a manner proportionate to their importance and the impact, and to make this 
evidence (and any archive generated) publicly accessible.’ 
 
Policy LP25 in the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan requires that development does lead to 
significant detrimental impacts on heritage assets. This issue is directed in relation to 
archaeology that could be non-designated heritage assets. 
 
ii)  Assessment of the Implications of the Proposals 
 
The City Archaeologist has been in dialogue with the applicant who has undertaken 
pre-determination evaluation for the application site. The results of this are that there is 

40



unlikely to be an archaeological impact from the development of the site so officers are 
advised that no further work is required. However, the applicant should be advised 
regarding the impact of finding any burials. 
 
6) The Planning Balance 
 
Paragraph 14 of the Framework sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development which for decision taking means that where relevant policies of the 
development plan are out-of-date planning permission should be granted unless any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against policies in the Framework, taken as a whole; or specific 
Framework policies indicate development should be restricted. However, a conclusion 
whether a development is sustainable is a decision that has to be taken in the round 
having regard to all of the dimensions that go to constitute sustainable development.  
 
In this case, officers recognise that the development would deliver economic and social 
sustainability directly through the construction of the development, the employment of 
persons carrying out health-related work within the buildings and to the persons benefiting 
from the services offered. 
 
Officers consider that the development has been suitably designed to avoid harmful 
implications upon the character and appearance of the Conservation Area and the 
residential amenities of near neighbours. As such, there would not be negative 
sustainability implications for the local community in terms of social sustainability. In 
addition, with suitable schemes to deal with air quality, contamination, drainage and 
lighting, the development would be environmentally sustainable. Furthermore, the benefits 
of providing the proposed development in a sustainable location close to other health 
facilities would benefit the health and social wellbeing of those living nearby. 
 
Thus, assessing the development as a whole in relation to its economic, social and 
environmental dimensions and benefits, officers are satisfied that the proposals could be 
considered as sustainable development and would accord with the Local Plan and 
Framework. 
 
Application Negotiated Either at Pre-Application or During Process of Application 
 
Yes, the proposed development has been amended to reduce the scale of the reception 
for either buildings and alter the visual appearance of the façades to more closely relate to 
the existing buildings and wider character of the area; and latterly to provide further 
clarification in relation to the uses proposed and reconfigure the arrangements for staff 
parking and servicing. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
The proposals would offer benefits to economic and social sustainability through the jobs 
created/sustained through construction and the development respectively. In addition, the 
Council would benefit from business rates from the uses proposed. 
 
Legal Implications 
 
None. 
 

41



Equality Implications 
 
The application has sought to improve access to existing buildings with circulation spaces 
and the proposals also support improved access opportunities. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The presumption in favour of sustainable development required by the National Planning 
Policy Framework would apply to the proposals as there would not be conflict with the 
three strands of sustainability that would apply to development as set out in the planning 
balance. Therefore, there would not be harm caused by approving the development. As 
such, it is considered that the application should benefit from planning permission for the 
reasons identified in the report and subject to the conditions outlined below and a legal 
agreement to ensure that the parking not specifically allocated for staff within the site is 
maintained for short stays and free of charge. 
 
Application Determined ithin Target Date 
 
Yes. 
 
Recommendation 
 
That the application is Granted Conditionally subject to the conditions outlined below and 
that authority is delegated to the Planning Manager to enable the signing of a legal 
agreement which ensures that the parking provided in the development (not specifically 
allocated for staff) is maintained for short stays and free of charge. 
 
Standard Conditions 
 

 Timeframe of the application (for permission); 

 Approved Plans; 
 
Conditions to be Discharged Prior to the Commencement of Development 
 

 Contaminated Land (Remediation Scheme and its Implementation) 

 Construction of the development (delivery times and working hours; and site 
compound location); 

 Bat Mitigation; 

 Surface water drainage scheme for the development (including no run-off to the 
street from hard landscaping); 

 Materials; 

 Location / Design / Noise Impact of Plant and Machinery or Venting; 
 
Conditions to be Discharged Prior to the Implementation of the Use 
 

 Car Parking / Servicing / Storage of Refuse; 

 Travel Plan; 

 Landscaping; 

 Finished Land Levels; 

 Management of Parking; 

 Electric Vehicle Recharging; 

42



 
Conditions to be Adhered to at all Times 
 

 Works to Trees; 

 Lighting Strategy; 

 Construction Working; 

 Construction Deliveries; 

 Waste Collection / Delivery Times; 

 Gated Access to Sewell Road; and 

 Reporting Unexpected Contamination. 
  
Report by Planning Manager 

43



This page is intentionally blank.



Application Plans 

 
Site Location Plan 

45



 
Proposed Site Plan – Phase 1

46



Phase 2 Demolition Plan and Proposals 
 

 
 
 

47



Overall Ground Floor Layout (Phase 2) 

 

48



 
Internal Car park Layout (Phase 2) 

 

49



 
Ground Floor Layout Nos. 10-12 Lindum Terrace (as extended under Phase 2) 

  

50



Overall First Floor Layout (Phase 2) 

 

51



 
 

Second Floor Plan (Phase 2) 

 

52



Roof Plan Phase 2 

 

53



North Elevations 
 

 
Sewell Road Frontage – Existing 
 

 
Sewell Road Frontage – Proposed – Phase 1 

54



 
Sewell Road Frontage – Proposed – Phase 2 
 

South Elevations 
 

 
Existing 

55



 
Proposed – Phase 1 
 

 
Proposed – Phase 2 
 
  

56



East Elevations 
 

 
Existing 
 

 
Proposed – Phase 1 
 

57



 
Proposed – Phase 2 
 

West Elevations 
 

 
Existing 
 

58



 
Proposed – Phase 1 
 

 
Proposed – Phase 2 
 
  

59



Proposed Elevations – No. 10 & 11 – Phase 1 
 

    
West Elevation       North Elevation 

    
East Elevation       South Elevation 

  

60



Proposed Elevations – No. 12 – Phase 1 

    
Above Left: North-West; Above Right: South-East; Below Left: North-East; Below Right: South-West. 

   

61



 
Proposed Elevations – Phase 2 

 

 

 
South Elevations 

62



 
West Elevation 

 

 
 

63



 
North Elevations 64



Site Photos 
 

 
View of Site Frontage with Lindum Terrace 

 

 
View West along Lindum Terrace from Access to the Site 

 

65



 
View East along Lindum Terrace from Access to the site 

 

 
View of the existing accesses to the site on Lindum Terrace 

 

66



 
View north of the southern façade of Nos. 10 & 11 Lindum Terrace 

 

 
View of the existing link between Nos. 10 and 11 Lindum Terrace 

 

67



 
View South of rear elevation of Nos. 10 and 11 Lindum Terrace 

 

 
View north of the southern façade of No. 12, with No. 11 to the west 

 

68



 
View west of No. 12 Lindum Terrace 

 
 

 
View of Nos. 30 & 32 Sewell Road 

 

69



 
View southeast of Sewell Road along northern boundary of the application site 
 

 
View from outside No. 28 Sewell Road southeast towards the application site 
 

70



 
View northwest towards St. Anne’s Bedehouses, application site on the left 
 

 
View northwest along Sewell Road, application site to the left 

71



This page is intentionally blank.



Correspondence Received Following 24 May 2017 Planning Committee 
 
Lincoln Civic Trust 
 
Maintain their objection:- 
 
The revised plans do not address our objections made to the initial application. In our 
previous submission we commented that most of our objections were about “Phase 2” 
which are summarised below. However, our comments about the whole project were 
based on the additional vehicle movements to and from the site, the problems of the 
road structure in the area and the overall lack of on-site car parking. Public transport, 
cycling or walking will be largely irrelevant for the activity to be undertaken under the 
proposal. Phase 2 objections:- 
a.  Substantial increase in the number of vehicle movements particularly as phase  

2 will be a 24- hour operation. 
b.  Building on the Northern side is too excessive for the site and for the surrounding, 

largely, residential area. Its footprint is too big and the height is too great 
c.  The number of trees to be removed to create the space to build. 
d. Substantial damage the local environment by the actual building and by the 

increase in activity.  
e.  Further pressure on an already totally inadequate parking provision. 
The revised proposals do not seek to address any of our original objections and hence 
we must forcibly reiterate our strong objection to this project. 
 
 
Mr. N. F. Hackett (27 Sewell Road) 
 
The changes, though appreciated, have not addressed my fundamental objections to 
the scheme which are: 
1. That Lindum Terrace and Sewell Road are predominantly residential areas and 

as such are not a suitable location for an hospital. 
2. That Phase 2 is too large and will require, in my view, over 100 staff to operate 

it, certainly many more than the 18 staff car parking spaces proposed. Where will 
all the staff, who cannot be accommodated in the staff car park, park their cars? 
The surrounding roads are already full of cars parked by people working in the 
local schools and colleges. 

3. That an hospital of this size will generate considerably more traffic movements 
than would be generated if the site were redeveloped with residential 
accommodation. 

4. That plant required to service the operating theatres will generate an 
unacceptable level of noise. 

I object to development of an hospital on this site. I would welcome appropriate 
residential development. 
 
Dr. M. J. Lewins (28 Sewell Road) 
 

73



 
 

74



 
 
 

Correspondence Received in Relation to the Scheme Discussed 
at 24 May 2017 Planning Committee 

 
Anglian Water 
 
ASSETS 
Section 1 – Assets Affected 
1.1 There are assets owned by Anglian Water or those subject to an adoption 
agreement within or close to the development boundary that may affect the layout of 
the site. Anglian Water would ask that the following text be included within your Notice 
should permission be granted. 
 
“Anglian Water has assets close to or crossing this site or there are assets subject to 
an adoption agreement. Therefore the site layout should take this into account and 
accommodate those assets within either prospectively adoptable highways or public 
open space. If this is not practicable then the sewers will need to be diverted at the 
developers cost under Section 185 of the Water Industry Act 1991. or, in the case of 
apparatus under an adoption agreement, liaise with the owners of the apparatus. It 
should be noted that the diversion works should normally be completed before 
development can commence.” 
 
WASTEWATER SERVICES 
 
Section 2 – Wastewater Treatment 
 
2.1 The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of Canwick Water 
Recycling Centre that will have available capacity for these flows. 
 
Section 3 – Foul Sewerage Network 
 

75



3.1 The sewerage system at present has available capacity for these flows. If the 
developer wishes to connect to our sewerage network they should serve notice under 
Section 106 of the Water Industry Act 1991. We will then advise them of the most 
suitable point of connection. 
 
Section 4 – Surface Water Disposal 
 
4.1 The preferred method of surface water disposal would be to a sustainable drainage 
system (SuDS) with connection to sewer seen as the last option. Building Regulations 
(part H) on Drainage and Waste Disposal for England includes a surface water 
drainage hierarchy, with infiltration on site as the preferred disposal option, followed 
by discharge to watercourse and then connection to a sewer. 
 
4.2 The surface water strategy/flood risk assessment submitted with the planning 
application relevant to Anglian Water is unacceptable. No evidence has been provided 
to show that the surface water hierarchy has been followed as stipulated in Building 
Regulations Part H. This encompasses the trial pit logs from the infiltration tests and 
the investigations in to discharging to a watercourse. If these methods are deemed to 
be unfeasible for the site, we require confirmation of the intended manhole connection 
point and discharge rate proposed before a connection to the public surface water 
sewer is permitted. We would therefore recommend that the applicant needs to consult 
with Anglian Water and the Environment Agency. 
 
We will request that the agreed strategy is reflected in the planning approval 
 
Section 5 – Trade Effluent 
5.1 The planning application includes employment/commercial use. To discharge 
trade effluent from trade premises to a public sewer vested in Anglian Water requires 
our consent. It is an offence under section 118 of the Water Industry Act 1991 to 
discharge trade effluent to sewer without consent. Anglian Water would ask that the 
following text be included within your Notice should permission be granted. 
 
“An application to discharge trade effluent must be made to Anglian Water and must 
have been obtained before any discharge of trade effluent can be made to the public 
sewer. 
 
Anglian Water recommends that petrol / oil interceptors be fitted in all car 
parking/washing/repair facilities. Failure to enforce the effective use of such facilities 
could result in pollution of the local watercourse and may constitute an offence. 
 
Anglian Water also recommends the installation of a properly maintained fat traps on 
all catering establishments. Failure to do so may result in this and other properties 
suffering blocked drains, sewage flooding and consequential environmental and 
amenity impact and may also constitute an offence under section 111 of the Water 
Industry Act 1991.” 
 
Section 6 – Suggested Planning Conditions 
 
Anglian Water would therefore recommend the following planning condition if the Local 
Planning Authority is mindful to grant planning approval. 

76



 
Surface Water Disposal (Section 4) 
 
CONDITION 
No drainage works shall commence until a surface water management strategy has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No hard-
standing areas to be constructed until the works have been carried out in accordance 
with the surface water strategy so approved unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON 
To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding. 
 
Historic England – 1st Response to original scheme 
 
Thank you for your letter of 6 December 2016 notifying Historic England of the above 
application. Our specialist staff have considered the amended scheme and we offer 
the following advice.  
  
Historic England Advice  
 
The site of the proposed scheme lies within the Lindum and Aboretum conservation 
area. One of the defining characteristics of the conservation area is 19th and early 
20th century villas set within their own grounds located on the top of the escarpment 
above the arboretum. The increasing number of substantial higher status dwellings 
east of the city centre reflected the growing wealth of Lincoln during the industrial 
revolution. The site is within the extensive grounds of the former Eastcliffe House. By 
1907 the grounds had been divided up and a number of villas built. Three villas on the 
site of the proposed scheme, numbers 10, 11 and 12 Lindum Terrace, survive today.  
The proposed scheme is to create a new medical village, including a mix of primary 
and secondary health care services. The scheme includes the retention of the existing 
villas and a large development which connects the villas including higher buildings on 
the north side.  
 
Historic England has no objection in principle to further development of the site. 
However we consider that the proposed scheme would be harmful to the significance, 
character and appearance of the conservation area through the joining up of the three 
villas to create a large institutional building. We recognise that regard has been given 
to reducing the impact, including by limiting the height of the new building. Your 
authority would need to weigh the harm caused against the public benefits of the 
proposal. We advise that the impact of the proposed scheme could be reduced by 
setting back the main entrance between Number 11 Lindum Terrace and Number 12 
Lindum Terrace so that it doesn’t extend forward of any section of the south elevation 
of Number 12 Lindum Terrace. We also advise that the proposed linking section 
between Number 10 and Number 11 Lindum Terrace is set back from the south 
elevation of the villas and reduced in height. These amendments would preserve more 
of the separation of all three villas when seen in important views from the south.  
 
As the site of the proposed scheme is within a conservation area, the statutory 
requirement to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 

77



character or appearance of the conservation area (s.72 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act, 1990) must also be taken into account by your 
authority in determining this application.  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that any harm or loss of 
significance of designated heritage assets should require ‘clear and convincing 
justification’ (paragraph 132). Paragraph 134 of the NPPF advises that where a 
development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of 
the proposal. We advise that it would be for your authority to determine whether the 
proposed scheme is justified and whether the public benefits outweigh the harm 
caused.  
 
Recommendation  
 
We recommend that the proposed scheme is amended as described above.  
 
Please contact me if we can be of further assistance. We would be grateful to receive 
a copy of the decision notice in due course. This will help us to monitor actions related 
to changes to historic places. 
 
Historic England – 2nd Response in Relation to Amendments 
 
Thank you for your letter of 27 April 2017 regarding further information on the above 
application for planning permission. On the basis of this information, we offer the 
following advice to assist your authority in determining the application. 
 
Historic England Advice 
 
The site of the proposed scheme lies within the Lindum and Aboretum conservation 
area. One of the defining characteristics of the conservation area is 19th and early 20th 
century villas set within their own grounds located on the top of the escarpment above 
the arboretum. The increasing number of substantial higher status dwellings east of 
the city centre reflected the growing wealth of Lincoln during the industrial revolution. 
The site is within the extensive grounds of the former Eastcliffe House. By 1907 the 
grounds had been divided up and a number of villas built. Three villas on the site of 
the proposed scheme, numbers 10, 11 and 12 Lindum Terrace, survive today.  
 
The proposed scheme is to create a new medical village, including a mix of primary 
and secondary health care services. The scheme includes the retention of the existing 
villas and a large development which connects the villas including higher buildings on 
the north side. 
 
We previously advised in our letter of  9th January 2017 that in our view the proposed 
scheme would cause a level of harm to the significance, character and appearance of 
the conservation area through the joining up of the three villas to create a large 
institutional building and that your authority would need to weigh the harm caused 
against the public benefits of the proposal.  
 
We also advised that the impact of the proposed scheme could be reduced by setting 

78



back the main entrance between Number 11 Lindum Terrace and Number 12 Lindum 
Terrace so that it didn’t extend forward of any section of the south elevation of Number 
12 Lindum Terrace and that the proposed linking section between Number 10 and 
Number 11 Lindum Terrace was set back from the south elevation of the villas and 
reduced in height.  Whilst we acknowledge that the revised plans address our 
concerns in relation to the main entrance between Number 11 and Number 12 Lindum 
Terrace, we would re-iterate our previous comments in relation to proposed linking 
section between Number 10 and Number 11 Lindum Terrace. In our view, the impact 
of the proposed scheme could be further reduced by setting the linking section back 
further from the south elevation of the villas- ie- set back from the front facades and 
reducing it in height. 
 
As the site of the proposed scheme is within a conservation area, the statutory 
requirement to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of the conservation area (s.72 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act, 1990) must also be taken into account by your 
authority in determining this application.  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that any harm or loss of 
significance of designated heritage assets should require ‘clear and convincing 
justification’ (paragraph 132). Paragraph 134 of the NPPF advises that where a 
development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of 
the proposal. We advise that it would be for your authority to determine whether the 
proposed scheme is justified and whether the public benefits outweigh the harm 
caused. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Historic England has concerns regarding the application on heritage grounds. 
 
We recommend that the proposed scheme is amended as described above. 
 
Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to 
have special regard to the desirability of preserving listed buildings or their setting or 
any features of special architectural or historic interest which they possess and section 
72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay 
special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of conservation areas. 
 
Your authority should take these representations into account and seek amendments, 
safeguards or further information as set out in our advice. If there are any material 
changes to the proposals, or you would like further advice, please contact us. 
 
Lincoln Civic Trust 
 
OBJECTION: The first point that must be made, is that the site has very poor logistical 
infrastructure and as such vehicle access has got to be re-addressed. Lindum Terrace, 
which is two way, is effectively a single- track road due to the on-street parking and 
Sewell Road is inaccessible from the western end and Upper Lindum Terrace passes 

79



through a school. This means the only routes to the site are via St Anne’s Road or 
Milman Road both of which are difficult to negotiate and are already busy due to the 
proximity of the Hospital. The facility for any additional on-street parking is nil and other 
than using Hospital car parks, there is no public parking provision within a sensible 
distance. 
 
We have no objection to Phase 1 of the plans although we feel that given the above, 
there is a distinct lack of car parking provided on site even for Phase 1. This project is 
bound to lead to an increase in vehicle movements and adequate space must be 
provided for car parking for patients and visitors and for service vehicles. We further 
note that given the proposal for residential beds, vehicle movements will be on a 24 
hour basis and hence noise and disturbance must be considered during the night. We, 
however, welcome the re-development of a large site and the refurbishment of the 
existing buildings. 
 
Phase 2, however, we object to as it seeks to overdevelop the site and whilst we 
understand the desire to maximise the site’s potential, we feel that the overall mass of 
the development is too large. The proposed building on the north side has too bigger 
footprint and is too high for what is largely a residential area. Given our previous 
comments, the parking and vehicle movement provision is now totally inadequate for 
the activity proposed. The removal of so many trees is concerning but inevitable as 
the site has been allowed to grow unchecked over many years and the Trust have no 
objection to their removal. We feel that very little consideration has been given the 
surrounding locality and the comments from the residents bears this out. We, 
consequently, must object to Phase 2. 
 
Lincolnshire County Council (as Highway Authority)  
 
Requests that any permission given by the Local Planning Authority shall 
include the conditions below. 
 
CONDITIONS (INCLUDING REASONS) /REASONS FOR REFUSAL/ADDITIONAL 
INFORMATION REQUIRED 
 
HP19A - The arrangements shown on the revised approved plan xxx dated xxx for the 
parking/turning/manoeuvring/loading/unloading of vehicles shall be available at all 
times when the premises are in use.  
 
Reason: To enable calling vehicles to wait clear of the carriageway of Lindum Terrace 
and Sewell Road and to allow vehicles to enter and leave the highway in a forward 
gear in the interests of highway safety.  
 
HP27 - Development shall not be commenced until a Travel Plan has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Those parts of the approved 
Travel Plan that are identified therein as being capable of implementation after 
occupation shall be implemented in accordance with the timetable contained therein 
and shall continue to be implemented as long as any part of the development is 
occupied.  
 

80



Reason: In order that the local planning authority conforms to the requirements of the 
National Planning Policy Framework, a Travel Plan has been conditioned to ensure 
that access to the site is sustainable and reduces dependency on the car.  
 
Note to Officer  
A S106 agreement has been requested to keep the parking within the development 
free so it remains attractive to visitors/patients/staff etc. and therefore alleviates the 
need for on street parking.  
 
Lincolnshire Police 
 
Thank you for your correspondence and subsequent plans received 6th December 
2016 and the opportunity to comment on the proposed development. I have studied 
the online plans and would request that you consider the following points that if 
adhered to would help reduce the opportunity for crime and increase the safety and 
sustainability of the development. 
 
Perimeter 
 
A clearly defined and secure boundary using a fence, wall or other effective barrier 
(significant and dense tree line) is a prerequisite for a safe and secure site. A secure 
boundary will cause difficulties and frustrate the potential intruder and deter people 
who have no legitimate business on the University site. Where pathways or rights of 
way exist, the use of defensive planting and visible fencing can be used but not 
that inhibits natural or formal surveillance. 
 
Building Regulations (October 1st 2015) provides that for the first time all new homes 
will be included within Approved Document Q: Security – Dwellings (ADQ). 
 
Approved document Q applies to all new dwellings including those resulting from 
change of use, such as commercial premises, warehouse and barns undergoing 
conversions into dwellings. It also applies within Conservation Areas. 
 
This will include doors at the entrance to dwellings, including all doors to flats or 
apartments, communal doors to multi-occupancy developments and garage doors 
where there is a direct access to the premises. Where bespoke timber doors are 
proposed, there is a technical specification in Appendix B of the document that must 
be met. 
 
External Doors & Windows 
 
The Secured by Design requirement for all external door sets is PAS 24.2016 or 2012 
or verified and tested equivalent (doors of an enhanced security). Front doors should 
include a door viewer unless a clear glazed secure vision panel is installed, a door 
security chain is recommended which will help deter and prevent distraction burglaries 
which can be prevalent amongst more vulnerable residents. 
Lighting should be designed to cover all external doors.   
A door chain or opening limiter should be installed that meets the Door and hardware 
Federation technical Specification 003 and installed in accordance with the 
manufacturers recommendations. 

81



 
Windows 
 
All windows must conform to improved security standard BS 7950:1997 All ground 
floor windows ( or where potential access can be gained to upper floors) should be 
laminated safety glazing (BS EN 356 2000 rating P2A) (6.4mm minimum) in windows 
below 800mm (from floor level) or 1500mm if within 300mm of a doorframe. 
All windows should include easily lockable hardware unless a designated fire egress 
route.  
 
CCTV System 
 
A comprehensive monitored CCTV should be included throughout the site with 
appropriate signage. Such a system could be remotely monitored at a central security 
location that does have 24 hour security cover unless 24 hour cover is provided at the 
new location. 
Should it be considered appropriate a police response monitored system to with 
installation to EN 50131-1, (PD6662 Scheme for the implementation of European 
Standards), or BS 8418 for a detector activated CCTV system. 
 
Signage. 
 
Effective use of directional and informative signage can do much to reduce the 
opportunity for any persons accessing the site and not knowing where they should be. 
Site maps and clear directions to a security office or reception will reduce any 
opportunity for unwarranted trespass on the site. 
 
Likewise an effective identity card/ badge system for all persons on the premises can 
significantly enhance security. 
 
Vehicle parking. 
 
Vehicle parking should ideally conform to the standards set out by the police service’s 
‘Park-mark’ criteria for safer parking, whilst not a requirement for Secure by Design 
status it is a good standard to achieve. Vehicular access control by way of a barrier 
system intercom and proximity card and access control would be recommended into 
the courtyard parking provision. Parking can be a particular problem in this area and 
this would reduce the opportunity for uncontrolled parking and increase security 
provison. 
 
Use of Bicycles. 
 
Secure bicycle parking should be made available within an appropriate roofed building 
(with all round surveillance that is within view (no more than 100 metres) of occupied 
buildings or CCTV) with ground bolted cycle stands. Galvanised steel bar construction 
(min thickness of 3mm) filled with concrete – minimum foundation 300mm with welded 
anchor bar. This facility should have adequate vandal resistant dedicated energy 
efficient lamps lighting during hours of darkness. www.bikeoff.org/design_resource . 
A design focussed and inviting cycle rack/shed would encourage safe and secure bike 
use where residents feel confident to leave their cycles. If this is not achieved evidence 

82

http://www.bikeoff.org/design_resource


strongly supports that cycle use will be reduced and residents will find alternative 
means to store cycles, i.e. in rooms or corridors. 
 
Lighting 
 
Lighting should be co-ordinated with an effective CCTV system and any light fittings 
protected against vandalism. The overall lighting scheme should be well considered 
and evenly distribute light avoiding dark shadows, provide good colour rendition, and 
not cause glare or light pollution and effectively support formal and informal 
surveillance within the residential block and surrounding area. 
 
A good lighting system can be cost effective and ensure that there will be a witness to 
any intrusion. It should allow staff, students and residents to feel secure and safe within 
their living environment. Importantly it should make intruders feel vulnerable and that 
there is an increased likelihood of being challenged. 
 
With regard to the lighting I would suggest that external lighting be low energy 
consumption lamps with an efficacy of greater than 40 lumens per circuit watt. The 
Code for Sustainable Homes requires security lighting to be PIR and for the lamp not 
to exceed 150w. Secured by Design has not specified this type of security lighting for 
a number of years following advice from the institute of Lighting Engineers and police 
concerning the increase in the fear of crime ( particularly amongst the elderly) due to 
repeated PIR activations. Research has proven that a constant level of illumination is 
more effective at controlling the night environment. However it should be pointed out 
that the Code for Sustainable Homes does not penalise specifiers that follow the SBD 
guidance (constant level of illumination by utilising low energy luminaries) and allows 
credits to be awarded for ‘default case’. 
 
External lighting must be switched using a photo electric cell (dusk to dawn) with a 
manual override. 
 
Lighting (bulk head style) should be designed to cover all external doors, this is 
particularly recommended in respect of the residential entrances to both blocks ‘A’ and 
‘B’. 
 
Landscaping 
 
Landscaping should not impede the opportunity for natural surveillance and must 
avoid the creation of areas of concealment.  Any landscaping should be kept to a 
maximum growth height of 1 metre.  Whilst any tree should be pruned to a minimum 
height of 2 metres, thereby maintaining a clear field of vision around the development.  
Trees when fully grown should not mask any lighting columns or become climbing 
aids. 
 
Boundaries between public and what is private space should be clearly defined and 
open accessible spaces should not allow for any unintended purpose which may 
cause any form of anti-social behaviour or nuisance.  I would recommend that these 
spaces are defined clearly by low level (carefully considered) planting of limited growth 
height and maintenance shrubbery (maximum growth height of 1m). 
 

83



Entrance. 
 
An integrated access system throughout the commercial (non-public areas) using 
vandal proof resistant proximity readers (biometric swipe cards) would allow for any 
security issues following student or staff exclusions. Should consideration be given to 
the use and application of prevailing biometric and voice recognition technology this 
should be discussed with the CPDA at the earliest opportunity? 
 
This area should be well illuminated and welcoming with the entrance area having a 
clear view of the approaches to the entrance. 
Where a separate automatically opening door is required for disabled access, use 
should be made of a proximity reader and /or biometric swipe card technology. 
 
The use of an ‘air lock’ system whereby two sets of automatic doors are used, the first 
opening will allow a visitor through with the provision to control sighted access from 
the reception or by remote camera / intercom system. In such a communal 
environment it is not uncommon for unwanted access to be gained by way of ‘follow 
through’ access placing residents at risk of crime and anti-social behaviour. 
 
I would strongly recommend that this development incorporates the achievement of a 
full Secured by Design validation which would support and reflect the highest of 
standards in terms of the safety and security of the living and learning environment 
provided for students, staff and visitors. 
 
Please do not hesitate to contact me should you need further information or 
clarification. 
 
Crime prevention advice is given free without the intention of creating a contract.  
Neither the Home Office nor the Police Service takes any legal responsibility for the 
advice given.  However, if the advice is implemented it will reduce the opportunity for 
crimes to be committed. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
John Manuel 
Force Crime Prevention Design Advisor 
 
 
Lincolnshire West Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
The Design and Access Statement states:- 
"The proposed development will both increase and improve the provision of 
community healthcare facilities and is in an accessible location close to the existing 
County Hospital." 
 
However there has been no discussion with local healthcare planners Lincolnshire 
West Clinical Commissioning Group or indeed NHS England regarding population 
health needs, the impending plans, or potential impact of impending plans. The CCG 
would have expected these discussions and wider engagement before any 
plans/applications had been submitted and therefore cannot support the plans. 

84



 
Annette Lumb 
Head of Planning and Corporate Governance 
 
 

Residents 
 
Mrs Ruth Curry (9 Sewell's Walk) 
 
You haven't even got the property addresses correct! 
 
Mr. N. F. Hackett (27 Sewell Road) 1st letter in relation to original application 
 

 
 

85



 
 

86



 
 
Mr. N. F. Hackett (27 Sewell Road) 2nd letter in relation to revisions 
 

 
 
Dr. M. J. Lewins (28 Sewell Road) 1st letter in relation to original application 

87



 

88



 
Dr. M. J. Lewins (28 Sewell Road) 2nd letter in relation to revisions 
 

89



 
 
Dr. N. Williams (29 Sewell Road) 1st letter in relation to original application 
 

90



 
 

91



 
 

92



 

 

93



 

 
 
Dr. N. Williams (29 Sewell Road) 2nd letter in relation to revisions 

94



 

 
 
A. R. Wylde, Clerk to the Trustees of St. Anne’s Bedehouses (33 Sewell Road) - 
1st letter in relation to original application 
 

95



 
 

 
A. R. Wylde, Clerk to the Trustees of St. Anne’s Bedehouses (33 Sewell Road) - 
2nd letter in relation to revisions 

96



 
 
Mr. & Mrs. Epton (Cliff House, Eastcliff Road) 
 

97



 

 

98



Application Number: 2017/0712/FUL 

Site Address: Birchwood Leisure Centre, Birchwood Avenue, Lincoln 

Target Date: 25th August 2017 

Agent Name: Saunders Boston Limited 

Applicant Name: Mr Mark Learnihan 

Proposal: Installation of glazed curtain walling, 1 no. new window and 
alterations to existing ramped fire escape to West elevation. 
Alterations to roof mounted plant equipment and other 
associated external alterations including reconfiguration of car 
park to provide 77 no. car parking spaces including 6 no 
accessible spaces. 

 
Background - Site Location and Description 
 
Birchwood Leisure Centre is located to the east of Birchwood Avenue bounded by the Sure 
Start Children's Centre to the south and dentists practice to the north. The centre currently 
consists of the leisure centre, social club, changing rooms and car park with 3g football pitch 
to the rear which is unaffected by the proposals. 
 
The application seeks to upgrade and improve the facilities within through significant internal 
and external alterations to redefine and refresh the identity of the centre. 
 
The application is to be considered by Planning Committee as the property is owned by the 
City of Lincoln Council. 
 
Site History 
 
No Relevant Site History. 
 
Case Officer Site Visit 
 
Undertaken on 13th July 2017. 
 
Policies Referred to 
 
National Planning Policy Framework  
Policy LP1 A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Policy LP15 Community Facilities 
Policy LP26 Design and Amenity 
 
Issues 
 
To assess the proposal with regard to: 
 
1) Accordance with National and Local Planning Policy 
2) Impact on amenity of neighbouring uses 
3) Impact on visual amenity  
4) Highway safety, access and parking 
 
Consultations 
 
Consultations were carried out in accordance with the Statement of Community 

99

Item No. 4b



Involvement, adopted May 2014.  
 
Statutory Consultation Responses 
 

Consultee Comment  

 
Highways & Planning 

 
No Objections 
 

 
Public Consultation Responses 
 
No Responses Received 
 
Consideration 
 
1) Accordance with National and Local Planning Policy 
 
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF outlines that "at the heart of the National Planning Policy 
Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable development, which should be seen 
as a golden thread running through both plan-making and decision-taking. For decision-
taking this means: 
 

 approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 
delay; and 

 where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, 
granting permission unless: 

 any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole; or 

 specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be restricted. 
 
Paragraph 56 states that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is 
indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better for 
people. 
 
Paragraphs 63 and 64 state that applicants should take the opportunities available for 
improving the character and quality of an area and the way it functions. Buildings and 
extensions should promote high levels of sustainability through good design and weight will 
be given to outstanding or innovative designs which help raise the standard of design more 
generally in the area. 
 
The application property is an existing community leisure centre and the following local plan 
policies are therefore relevant in the consideration of any proposed works: 
 

 Policy LP1: A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

 Policy LP15: Community Facilities 

 Policy LP26: Design and Amenity 
 
Policy LP1 states that planning applications that accord with the policies in the Local Plan 
will be approved without delay, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Local 
Authority will take a positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. Officers will always work 
proactively with applicants to find solutions which mean that proposals can be approved 

100



wherever possible, and to secure development that improves the economic, social and 
environmental conditions in Central Lincolnshire. As the proposals are largely improvements 
to the existing leisure centre they would be considered to be wholly in accordance with this 
policy. 
 
Policy LP15 states that the redevelopment or expansion of an existing facility to extend or 
diversify the level of service provided will be supported. This is in accordance with the 
development brief provided within the submitted design and access statement setting out 
the vision for a renovated and modernised leisure centre. 
 
The following design principles within Policy LP26 would be pertinent with the development. 
 
a. Make effective and efficient use of land; 

 
c. Respect the existing topography, landscape character and identity, and relate well to the 
site and surroundings, particularly in relation to siting, height, scale, massing, form and plot 
widths; 
 
d. Not result in the visual or physical coalescence with any neighbouring settlement; 
 
f. Incorporate and retain as far as possible existing natural and historic features such as 
hedgerows, trees, ponds, boundary walls, field patterns, buildings or structures; 
 
j. Duly reflect or improve on the original architectural style of the local surroundings, or 
embrace opportunities for innovative design and new technologies which sympathetically 
complement or contrast with the local architectural style; 
 
k. Use appropriate, high quality materials which reinforce or enhance local distinctiveness, 
with consideration given to texture, colour, pattern and durability; 
 
l. Ensure public places and buildings are accessible to all: this should not be limited to 
physical accessibility, but should also include accessibility for people with conditions such 
as dementia or sight impairment for example. 
 
Policy LP26 further states that the amenities which all existing and future occupants of 
neighbouring land and buildings may reasonably expect to enjoy must not be unduly harmed 
by or as a result of development. Proposals should demonstrate, where applicable and to a 
degree proportionate to the proposal, how the following matters have been considered, in 
relation to both the construction and life of the development: 
 
m. Compatibility with neighbouring land uses; 
n. Overlooking; 
o. Overshadowing; 
p. Loss of light; 
 
2) Impact on the Amenity of Neighbouring Uses. 
 
The Leisure Centre is closely bounded by the Birchwood Children's Centre and Nursery to 
the south and Dental Clinic to the north, separated by the existing car park. As the existing 
use is established the proposals to alter the existing internal layout and uses within the 
leisure centre would not have a substantial impact on the amenity of the adjacent properties. 
With a small increase in the number of car parking spaces the use of the centre would not 

101



be considered to significantly impact the level of activity and associated noise. 
 
3) Impact on Visual Amenity 
 
The existing building would be subject to significant external alterations to the principle 
elevation including the installation of new glazed curtain walling sections to provide a 
dynamic and active frontage for a modernised leisure centre. The alterations make use of 
grey aluminium framework and glazing to provide a significant improvement to the existing 
unsightly blank masonry frontage. Other minor alterations include the installation of a new 
larger window to the front elevation, removal of the existing access ramp, and adaptation of 
existing ductwork and making good of all other remaining elements. 
 
The scheme would significantly improve the visual amenity of the premises and wider street 
scene. 
 
An appropriate signage scheme would be subject to a further application for advertisement 
consent. 
 
Works to restructure the car parking would require the removal of 4 trees to the centre of 
the existing car park. The impact of these works has been considered by the authorities 
Arboriculture Officer who has advised that whilst the loss of the trees would be regrettable 
it would not have an unduly harmful impact on the amenity of the site with a significant 
number of mature trees remaining.  
 
Notwithstanding the above, it is considered reasonable to condition the submission of a 
replanting scheme prior to works beginning on site to replace the 4 specimens lost through 
the reconfiguration of the car park.  
 
4) Highway Safety & Parking 
 
The proposal seeks to restructure the existing car park by rationalising and remarking the 
existing layout, removing the dividing grassed element and a modest expansion to an area 
adjacent to the playing field. The works would increase the existing number of parking 
spaces from 53 to 77 including DDA compliant spaces adjacent to the entrance. The impact 
from the removal of the grassed element and its associated trees has been considered 
above. Existing cycle parking will be relocated as part of the proposed works retaining the 
existing provision. 
 
The Highways Department at Lincolnshire County Council have been consulted on the 
proposals and have confirmed to have no objections to the alterations on the grounds of 
highway safety, access and parking. 
 
Application Negotiated either at Pre-Application or During Process of Application 
 
Some minor alterations. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
None. 
 
 
 

102



Legal Implications 
 
None. 
 
Equality Implications 
 
None. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The scheme would improve the visual amenity of the existing property and wider area 
providing a modernised frontage onto Birchwood Avenue. A slight increase in activity would 
not have a detrimental impact on the neighbouring properties or immediate area and would 
bring further benefits to the locality. The proposals are therefore entirely in accordance with 
the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.    
 
Application Determined within Target Date 
 
Yes. 
 
Recommendation 
 
That the application is granted conditionally. 
 
Standard Conditions  
 
01) The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 

with the date of this permission. 
   
  Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
  
02) With the exception of the detailed matters referred to by the conditions of this consent, 

the development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
drawings listed within Table A below. 

  The works shall be carried out in accordance with the details shown on the approved 
plans and in any other approved documents forming part of the application. 

   
  Reason: To ensure the development proceeds in accordance with the approved 

plans. 
 
Conditions to be discharged before commencement of works 
 
03) Details of all external materials to be used in the development shall be submitted to 

and approved by the Local Planning Authority before the development commences.  
The approved materials shall not be substituted without the written consent of the 
City Council as Local Planning Authority. 

   
  Reason: In the interests of visual amenity. 
 
04) No development shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved by 

the Local Planning Authority a scheme of replanting, which shall include details of the 
replacement trees to be planted following the reconfiguration of the car park. 

103



   
  Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Section 197 of the 

1990 Act which requires local planning authorities to ensure, where appropriate, that 
adequate provision is made for the preservation or planting of trees. 

 
Conditions to be adhered to at all times 
 
  None. 
 

104



Plans 

Site Location 

 

 

105



Existing Site Plan 

 

 

Existing Ground Floor  

 

 

106



Existing First Floor 

 

 

Existing Elevations 

 

 

 

  

107



Proposed Site Plan 

 

 

 

Proposed Ground Floor 

 

 

108



Proposed First Floor 

 

Proposed Elevations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

109



3D Visuals 

 

 

 

  

110



Site Photos 

 

 

 

111



 

 

 

112



 

 

 

113



 

 

 

114



 

 

 

115



 

 

 

116



 

 

  

117



Consultee Responses 

 

118



PLANNING COMMITTEE  16 AUGUST 2017 
  
 

 
SUBJECT: 
 

THE PERFORMANCE OF THE COUNCIL IN APPEALS 
DECIDED BY THE PLANNING INSPECTORATE 

DIRECTORATE: 
 

COMMUNITIES AND ENVIRONMENT 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

KIERON MANNING, PLANNING MANAGER 

 
1) Purpose of the Report 
 
This report is the first to Members referring to the performance of the Council at 
Appeals and includes details of all the appeal decisions that have been received 
since 01 January 2015 to 01 August 2017. The report is for informative purposes 
only so there is no recommendation. 
 
2) Background 
 
The Council have received 30 appeals following decisions to refuse applications for 
planning permission, advertisement consent and works to fell or carry out other work 
to trees in the period, the full list of which is included as an appendix to this report. 
The list and report do not include reference to those appeals that have not yet been 
decided or that are as a result of enforcement procedures, as Members are currently 
provided with updates regarding the outcome of enforcement proceedings by the 
Planning Enforcement Team Leader.  
 
3) Performance Information 
 
Members will note that one of the relevant appeals, lodged in relation to student 
accommodation at the Marina, was ultimately withdrawn following the grant of 
permission for the scheme currently nearing completion. As such, the remaining 29 
appeals were decided by the Planning Inspectorate. Of these appeals, five of the 
related applications were determined by the Members of the Planning Committee 
and the remaining 24 applications were considered under delegated powers. 
 
The decisions made by officers included a variety of types of applications and 
officers successfully defended decisions to refuse 15 of the 24 appeals that were 
considered by the Planning Inspectorate. Of the nine appeals that were allowed in 
part or in full, three were for advertisements; two were for householder development 
and changes of use; and there were further appeals for the variation of opening 
hours of a commercial use and works to trees. 
 
Meanwhile, of the applications considered by the Planning Committee, there were 
four decisions made against the recommendation of officers and one followed the 
recommendation presented to the Planning Committee. In terms of the latter, this 
was for change of use of a dwelling at 36 Yarborough Road to be used as a HMO 
and the Inspector disagreed that the potential increase in the number of students 

119

Item No. 5



living in the area would harm local residents and lead to greater imbalance in the 
community. 
 
In terms of the former, one of the decisions against officer recommendation was in 
relation to the development of the Lord Tennyson public house situated on Rasen 
Lane. This decision was successfully defended by officers and the appeal dismissed 
by the Planning Inspectorate. The remaining appeals were against the 
recommendations of officers and were subsequently allowed by the Inspectorate. 
 
In light of this, in order to ensure that Members are able to understand the reasoning 
of the Planning Inspectorate in overturning the decisions made by the Planning 
Committee, the background to each of these applications and the decision of each 
Planning Inspector is detailed below for each of the appeals:- 
 
Land at Denby Dale Close 
 

 
Site Layout Plan 

 
The application was for the erection of six dwellings on land situated between Denby 
Dale Close, Teasdale Close and Dellfield Close. The application was recommended 
to Members for approval subject to conditions but Members voted in favour of an 
opposing motion to refuse planning permission upon the basis of the loss of an 
informal green space heavily populated by trees, which is used as a recreational 
area by local residents. 

120



Moreover, Members considered that its loss would have a detrimental impact on the 
amenity currently enjoyed by local residents. In addition, Members considered that 
the absence of an ecological survey as part of the application meant that it had failed 
to demonstrate that there would not be a harmful impact upon wildlife in the local 
area. 
 
The Inspector for the appeal considered that the loss of space and 61 trees within 
the site, 40% of which would be “poor condition, have poor form, are suppressed or 
have a limited life expectancy”, would be tempered by the retention of trees at the 
edges of the site and the provision of a proposed open space. What is more, for the 
Inspector, the maintenance of the open space and the willingness to retain some of 
the trees originally proposed for felling, weighed in favour of the appeal. 
 
Furthermore, the appellant’s Ecological Appraisal there was no evidence of 
protected and notable species on the site and the Inspector was satisfied that the 
mitigation measures proposed would protect bats and nesting birds; and the fact that 
the site was not subject to any special protection so there were no reasons to 
dismiss the appeal on the grounds of the loss of wildlife habitat. 
 
169 West Parade 
 
The application was for a dormer window to the rear of the property, which was 
slightly larger than the original approved dormer. At the time of the application the 
applicant had started to construct the dormer so it was partially retrospective. The 
application was recommended for approval but Members considered that the size 
and relationship with neighbouring properties would result in an unacceptable 
overbearing impact; and the larger window proposed would promote an increased 
degree of overlooking of neighbouring properties, both which would be harmful to the 
amenities that the occupants of those properties would expect to enjoy. 
 

 
Site Location Plan 

121



 
Although the dormer window would be 0.5m closer to neighbours at the rear of the 
site, the Inspector was satisfied that the distance to the balconies of these properties 
being approximately 30m (and a greater distance to their windows) would be 
sufficient to ensure that any additional harm caused by the revised scheme 
compared with the approved scheme would be slight, and in any event not sufficient 
to withhold permission. In addition, the Inspector also observed the existing inter-
visibility between the rear facing windows of houses on West Parade and the rooms 
and balconies of the properties opposite; and clarified that there is an expectation 
within an urban area that there would be such relationships. Furthermore, the 
Inspector acknowledged that the scheme negotiated with the appellant as part of the 
application also provided some betterment.  
 
68 Riseholme Road 
 
The application was for the erection of 5 three-storey dwellings to the rear of the 
existing dwelling, as well as a detached double garage for that dwelling. The 
application was recommended for approval, but Members were not in favour of the 
proposals due to their potential impact on neighbouring properties “from noise, 
disturbance, loss of privacy and overshadowing by reason of the proximity, 
specifically window to window distances, and number of the new dwellings to 68 and 
70 Riseholme Road.” 
 

 
Site Layout Plan 

 

122



The Inspector noted the Council’s reference to a distance of 21metres as being the 
preferred separation between properties to prevent overlooking but highlighted the 
absence of any policy or guidance which details that standard. Although two of the 
dwellings would be around 12metres from No. 68, this would be an offshoot with no 
habitable rooms or windows facing the dwellings. Therefore, the Inspector was 
satisfied that there would not be overlooking between No. 68 and the proposed 
dwellings. The Inspector also noted that the nearest facing first floor windows in No. 
68 would be around 19 metres from the proposed dwellings, as a result of this the 
Inspector considered that privacy would not be compromised to an unacceptable 
degree. Similarly, although proposed dwellings would be around 15m from No. 70, 
the Inspector was satisfied that the vegetation and boundary treatments of this 
property, as well as the oblique views from the proposed properties would protect the 
occupants from harm. Meanwhile, the Inspector was content that privacy at ground 
floor level would be maintained through the erection of a 1.5m close-boarded fence. 
 
In terms of the other matters, given the separation distance and positioning of the 
proposed dwellings to the west of Nos. 68 and 70 and the tracking of the sun, the 
Inspector was satisfied that there would not be any significant overshadowing arising 
from the development. The Inspector noted that Riseholme Road is a busy main 
road and that the immediate area comprises a mix of residential dwellings and 
commercial premises, including the schools to the rear of the site. As a result of 
these conditions, the Inspector considered that the proposals would not increase the 
ambient noise levels of the area to a significant degree.

123



Appendix A – List of Appeals 01/01/2015 to 01/08/2017 
 

Council Appeal 
Ref 

Appeal 
Decision 

Location Proposal 
Appeal 

decision 
date 

Officer 
recommend

ation 

Delegated 
/ 

Committee 
Decision 

2017/0008/APRAD Upheld 

Unit 1 
Lindis Retail Park 
Moorland Close 
Lincoln 
Lincolnshire 

Display of 1 internally illuminated 
sign to rear elevation 
(RETROSPECTIVE). 

26-Jul-17 

Refused Delegated Refused 

2017/0001/APRPP Dismissed 

St Marks Retail Park 
The Sidings 
Lincoln 
LN6 7TP 

Use of land for stationing of jack-
leg mobile storage unit for use for 
the receipt from the public of 
used clothing, shoes and clothing 
accessories for bulk re-sale or re-
cycling. (RETROSPECTIVE) 

18-May-17 

Refused Delegated Refused 

2017/0005/APRPP Dismissed 

77 Fulmar Road 
Lincoln 
Lincolnshire 
LN6 0RX 

To fell 2 Birch in rear garden 11-Apr-17 

Refused Delegated Refused 

2016/0012/APRPP Dismissed 

Land To Rear Of 69 
High Street 
Lincoln 
LN5 8AD 

Demolition of existing 4no. 
storage units to facilitate the 
erection of 5no. two-bedroom 
bungalows. Provision of 2no. car 
parking spaces and associated 
landscaping works and boundary 
treatments 

29-Mar-17 

Refused Delegated Refused 

2016/0010/APRPP Dismissed 

16 Stenigot Grove 
Lincoln 
Lincolnshire 
LN6 3PF 

To fell 1 Scots Pine. 25-Jan-17 

Refused Delegated Refused 

124



2016/0009/APRPP Dismissed 

14 Stenigot Grove 
Lincoln 
Lincolnshire 
LN6 3PF 

To fell 1 Scots Pine 25-Jan-17 

Refused Delegated Refused 

2016/0011/APRPP Dismissed 

Land To The Rear Of 2-
6 
Sewells Walk 
Lincoln 
Lincolnshire 

Erection of 2 two storey semi-
detached dwellings with 
associated access. 

20-Dec-16 

Refused Delegated Refused 

2016/0004/APRPP 
Upheld 
with 
conditions 

455 Newark Road 
Lincoln 
Lincolnshire 
LN6 8RT 

Erection of a two storey rear 
extension incorporating 
accommodation in the roof space 
with two dormer windows and 
first floor balcony. (REVISED 
DESCRIPTION) (RESUBMISSION) 

31-Oct-16 

Refused Delegated Refused 

2016/0008/APRPP 
Upheld 
with 
conditions 

68 Riseholme Road 
Lincoln 
Lincolnshire 
LN1 3SP 

Erection of 5 three-storey 
dwellings and erection of a 
detached double garage for 
existing dwelling. 

17-Oct-16 
Granted 
Conditionally Committee Refused 

2016/0007/APRPP Dismissed 
Land At 6 Rivermead 
Close Lincoln LN6 8FD 

Erection of 2 two-storey 
dwellings. 

27-Sep-16 
Refused Delegated Refused 

2016/0014/APRPP Withdrawn 

Land At Lincoln 
Marina 
Campus Way 
Lincoln 

Erection of 1no. 4 storey and 2no. 
11 storey buildings to 
accommodate 49 residential units 
(totalling 500no. bedrooms), 220 
sq.m of floorspace for A1/A3/B1 
use and 86 sq.m for B1 use; 
including new public realm and 
public footpath around Brayford 
Pool, with associated hard and 
soft landscaping. Demolition of 
existing two-storey Lincoln 

19-Aug-16 

Granted 
Conditionally Committee Refused 

125



Marina building. 

2016/0015/APRPP Upheld   
36 Yarborough Road 
Lincoln 
LN1 1HS 

Change of use from C3 
(Dwellinghouse) to 7 bed HMO 
(Sui Generis) (RETROSPECTIVE) 

18-Aug-16 
Refused Committee Refused 

2017/0002/APRPP Dismissed 
6 Worcester Close 
Lincoln 
LN6 3LW 

To fell 3 Birch trees 07-Jul-16 
Split Delegated Split 

2016/0013/APRPP Dismissed 

Site Of Former 
Wildlife Public House 
Birchwood Avenue 
Lincolnshire 
LN6 0JB 

Change of use to hand car wash 
(Sui Generis) with associated 
Portacabin and canopy (Part 
Retrospective). 

14-Jun-16 

Refused Delegated Refused 

2015/0001/APRAD Upheld 

Lindis Retail Park 
Moorland Close 
Lincoln 
LN6 7JL 

Display of 2 non-illuminated 
totem signs at northern entrance 
to the Lindis Retail Park (REVISED 
PLANS). 

18-May-16 

Refused Delegated Refused 

2016/0016/APRPP Dismissed 
68 The Park Lincoln 
LN1 1XS 

Erection of external staircase to 
rear elevation to facilitate first 
floor access, including 
enlargement of first floor window 
opening to create new door 
opening. 

03-May-16 

Refused Delegated Refused 

2016/0017/APRPP Dismissed 
Land To The Rear Of 1 
Durham Close Lincoln 
LN6 0QG 

Erection of a dwelling with 
detached shared double garage 
to service new dwelling and 1 
Durham Close. 

07-Apr-16 

Refused Delegated Refused 

126



2015/0003/APRPP Upheld 
1 St Marks Square 
Lincoln LN5 7EX 

Change of use from car parking to 
hand car wash facility with 
canopy and work station.  (RE-
SUBMISSION) 

09-Mar-16 

Refused Delegated Refused 

2016/0018/APRPP Upheld 
169 West Parade 
Lincoln 
LN1 1QS 

Installation of a rear dormer 
window to 3rd storey 
(RESUBMISSION) (Revised plans - 
Dormer reduced in size) 

29-Feb-16 
Granted 
Conditionally Committee Refused 

2017/0004/APRPP 
Upheld 
with 
conditions 

Land At Denby Dale 
Close 
(Next To 10 Denby 
Dale Close) 
Lincoln 
LN6 0XL 

Erection of 6 two storey dwellings 
with garages. 

06-Feb-16 

Granted 
Conditionally Committee Refused 

2015/0002/APRPP 

Part 
Upheld 
with 
conditions 

150 Nettleham Road 
Lincoln 
LN2 1RY 

Erection of a single storey rear 
extension and alterations to front 
elevation incorporating new 
gable and rear dormer to 
accommodate loft conversion. 

31-Dec-15 

Refused Delegated Refused 

2015/0005/APRAD Dismissed 
Former Dunelm Unit 
Proctors Road Lincoln 
LN2 4LA 

Display of 2 externally 
illuminated, wall mounted signs, 
3 high level banner signs and 16 
non-illuminated, wall-mounted 
poster board signs. 

08-Dec-15 

Refused Delegated Refused 

2017/0006/APRPA Dismissed 

51 Skellingthorpe 
Road 
Lincoln 
LN6 7QT 

Erection of a two storey dwelling. 01-Dec-15 

Refused Delegated Refused 

2015/0004/APRPP 
Upheld 
with 
conditions 

9 Abingdon Close 
Lincoln 
Lincolnshire 
LN6 3UH 

To fell 1 Oak (T1) and remove 
deadwood and reduction of 
lateral crown brances by an 
extent not exceeding 1.5 metres 
of 1 Oak (T2) 

07-Oct-15 

Split Delegated Split 

127



2015/0008/APRPP Dismissed 

Land To The Rear Of 
79 Doddington Road 
Lincoln 
LN6 7AJ 

Erection of single storey dwelling 
to rear 

07-Sep-15 

Refused Delegated Refused 

2015/0006/APRPP Dismissed 
Land To The Rear Of 
11-21 Gaunt Street 
Lincoln LN6 7PU 

Erection of 6 2-storey dwellings 
(RESUBMISSION) (REVISED 
LOCATION) 

12-Aug-15 
Refused Delegated Refused 

2015/0007/APRAD 
Part 
Upheld 

The Harvester 
Brayford Wharf 
Lincoln LN1 1YW 

Display of 3 internally illuminated 
fascia signs, 1 internally 
illuminated post sign, 1 internally 
illuminated display case, 9 non 
illuminated barrier signs and 3 
non illuminated awnings. 
(Retrospective) 

14-May-15 

Split Delegated Split 

2014/0002/APRPP Dismissed 

Lord Tennyson 
72 Rasen Lane 
Lincoln 
LN1 3HD 

Erection of a part 2-storey/part 3-
storey building to accommodate 
12 apartments, including 12 car 
parking spaces, refuge area and 
new boundary wall to front and 
side elevations. (Revised Plans) 

17-Mar-15 

Granted 
Conditionally Committee Refused 

2014/0004/APRPP 
Upheld 
with 
conditions 

84 Carholme Road 
Lincoln 
LN1 9NX 

Variation of condition 2 (opening 
hours) of planning permission 
2008/0455/F 

18-Feb-15 
Refused Delegated Refused 

2014/0005/APRPP 
Upheld 
with 
conditions 

Joy TLC Cic 
19 Rookery Lane 
Bracebridge 
Lincoln 
LN6 7PX 

Change of use of single dwelling 
to use of ground floor for day 
care and acupuncture clinic and 
use of first floor as self-contained 
flat. 

18-Feb-15 

Refused Delegated Refused 

 

128


	Agenda
	1 Confirmation of Minutes - 19 July 2017
	3 Work to Trees in City Council Ownership
	4a 10-12 Lindum Terrace and 30-32 Sewell Road, Lincoln
	10-12 Lindum Terrace & 30-32 Sewell Road plans
	10-12 Lindum Terrace & 30-32 Sewell Road - Correspondence

	4b Birchwood Leisure Centre, Birchwood Avenue, Lincoln
	Plans Photos and Responses Birchwood Leisure Centre Report

	5 The Performance of the Council in Appeals Decided by the Planning Inspectorate

